The Normalcy of Negative Feelings

A Naturalistic Perspective of the Human Psyche and Mental Health

Rapportens samlede antal tegn (med mellemrum & fodnoter): 95.982 Svarende til antal normalsider á 2400 tegn: 39,99 10. Semester, Psykologi, Kandidatspeciale

Carla - Christin Andersen, Studienummer: 20164124

Aalborg Universitet 18. 05. 2022

Vejleder: Einar Baldvin Baldursson

Abstract

Indeværende speciale forsøger tentativt at skitsere et realistisk, naturalistisk syn på menneskets psyke og mentale sundhed. Det forsøges i første omgang ved at belyse behovet for sådan en opdateret og naturalistisk tilgang, gennem en redegørelse og kritisk diskussion af mere normative forståelser (mere specifikt positiv psykologi) af mentalt helbred. Her diskuteres de mere "normative" retninger i psykologi og deres teoretiske grundlag samt historiske kontekst. Derefter følges en redegørelse, analyse og diskussion af en samling af udvalgte teorier og empiri som antages at kunne tilbyde et mere mangefacetteret perspektiv, såsom blandt andet teorier om allostatisk stress, allostastisk load og neural reuse. Stress og neural reuse bliver diskuteret i forhold til deres historiske og moderne kontekster, hvor allostatisk stress tilbyder et nyt perspektiv på stress, som normalt er set i lyset af homeostase. Neural reuse diskuteres kort i forhold til den moderne neuropsykologi og de førnævnte normative teorier, samt den evolutionære støbning af emotioner. Til sidst diskuteres og argumenteres der for, hvorfor "negative" følelser, som i dag hyppigt bliver sygeliggjorte, eller i det mindste bliver betragtet som uønskelige, i stedet burde betragtes som naturligt og måske endda nødvendig. Der konkluderes, ud fra en naturalistisk tilgang, som tentativt er opridset i dette projekt, at den menneskelige psyke sandsynligvis er langt fra perfekt, men i stedet er kompleks. Derfor kan psykiske fænomener – og psykiske lidelser – ikke alene forklares og forstås gennem simple normative teorier, modeller eller manualer. Dette kan i stedet eventuelt underbygges med del to af projektet, som blandt andet belyser, at forskning indikerer at stress- og smertesystemer ikke kun har adskillige fysiske og psykologiske effekter, men derudover, som to af de ældste systemer, der udvikledes gennem menneskets evolution, er indlejret i mange nyere systemer og mekanismer af den menneskelige psyke. Summa summarum påpeger projektet derved, at negative følelser, såsom tristhed eller stress, er, under visse omstændigheder og til en vidst grad, helt normalt. Derfor er tendensen i den moderne, især vestlige, verden til at reducere mental sundhed til følelser af positiv natur, såsom lykke, kunne tænkes at være mere skadeligt end gavnligt i sidste ende, mere skadeligt end gavnligt i sidste ende, samt muligvis er rodfæstet i neoliberal og individualistisk ideologi fremfor empirisk videnskab.

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Problem statement	4
Method	5
Part I: Mental Health and Well-Being Research	7
Positive Psychology	7
Toxic Positivity1	1
Part II: A naturalistic/realistic approach1	6
Stress1	7
Historical background1	7
Homeostasis and the beginnings of stress research1	8
Understanding Selye1	9
Historical context2	1
Transactional Model of Stress2	3
Modern approaches to stress 2	5
Allostasis2	5
Allostatic load2	6
Put Into Perspective: Positive versus naturalistic perspective of stress	7
The human psyche and evolution2	8
Neural Reuse 2	9
The social brain, neural reuse and emotions	0
Psychological/social pain3	2
The Evolution of Emotions3	5
Negative Feelings	8
Conclusion4	0
References4	3
Pensumopgørelse	1

Introduction

Television, mobile phones, social media, the news, inequality, information overload, crushing debt, a dooming climate crisis, long-lasting pandemics, natural disasters, poor work/life balance, environmental pollution changing our genes, and last but not least the blue light from electronic devices — pick any of these modern tribulations and someone would most likely postulate that one or more of these are to blame for the surmised upsurge of mental health issues, as well as a general increase of unhappiness and stress within people today. Meanwhile the suggested, popular antidote to the aforementioned tribulations seems to, over the past couple of years, primarily have been: **Positive thinking.**

"Good vibes only", "Positivity always wins", "A positive mindset leads to positive outcomes", "You do not find the happy life, you make it" — we all know and have heard sayings like these in one variety or another. Hashtags like #goodvibesonly, #positivevibes and #positivethinking on social media sites like Instagram alone have millions of posts attached to them. Popular self-help books such as "The Power of Positive Thinking" by Peale or even "Learned Optimism: How to Change Your Mind and Your Life" by Seligman, all advocate for positive thinking as well and have gained significant recognition from the public.

This exerted strive for positivity and happiness, seems to, first and foremost, be a product of the current zeitgeist, yet also perhaps a symptom of the more and more prevalent feelings of helplessness, uncertainty and powerless. Indeed, the rise of self-help books, life coaches, podcasts, social media and even trends within the scientific field of psychology (mainly positive psychology) are a symbol – if not at the same time fathers – of this novel trend where people try to seek remedies for such feelings of uncertainty (Cabanas, 2008; Pérez-Álvarez, 2016; Fernández-Ríos & Novo, 2012).

Although it might perhaps be unfair to also partly blame the rise of the -at times pernicious- focus on positivity and self-betterment on positive psychology, one can hardly deny it's influence and reach through its impinging on popular culture. As Held (2002) points out, ABC's "Good Morning America", a very popular news- and chatshow, dedicated nearly an entire show to the positive psychology movement and its spokespersons back in October 1999. One segment of the show was titled "The Happiness Revolution" (Held, 2002)— and doesn't the promise of a revolutionary psychological theory bringing about happiness indeed sound grand? Desirable even? Searching for happiness seems to be all too human and while nothing is wrong with that, it raises the question whether the strive for happiness really brings about happiness? And what happens to our negative feelings?

Certainly, as Lazarus (2003) highlights, the scientific field of psychology seems to have become ensnared by the ideas proposed by positive psychology and its premise that through positive thinking and feeling, as well as through self-optimisation, one can find the way to well-being, happiness and ultimately: health. Thus happiness and positivity has not only become the cause, but also the solution to a variety of social and mental health problems, adopting an almost religious, if not at the very least normative, mantra– if only you do this and this, you too can obtain mental health, happiness, and fortune, and if it doesn't work it's because *you* yourself are the problem and weren't working hard enough for it. However, this scientific rhetoric largely echoed by society and a not insignificant number of psychological research and theories, might be prone to overlooking more subtle notions of how the human mind is construed, and instead risks offering not only normative, but also highly individual and tautological understandings of the human psyche and mental disorders (Pérez-Álvarez, 2016).

On the other end of the spectrum, neuropsychological perspectives have also gained more and more favour within the scientific field of psychology over the years, narrowing our understanding of mental disorders down to "diseases of the brain" (Nesse, 2019), and where the hitherto popular paradigm based on psychoanalysis has sidestepped in favour of a more descriptive, atheoretical and operationalised approach in the classification of mental disorders. Most notable perhaps the DSM-IV and its pre-successors (Murphy & Stich, 1998).

Indeed, psychology appears to be somewhat of a fragmented scientific field in disagreement, with various disciplines that at times contradict each other, or at least oftentimes are irreconcilable (Eronen & Bringmann, 2021; Hibberd & Gozli, 2017;

Zittoun et al., 2009; Murphy & Stich, 1998; Nesse, 2019), and where questions such as whether the observed decline in mental health, and accompanying spike of diagnoses, is holding true, and if so, where it stems from and how we're to understand it based on our understanding of the human psyche and mental health, sometimes leaves us with even more questions than answers. While those questions are far from novel and have not only been on the forefront of various news articles (Williams, 2021; "Is Mental Illness on The Rise?", 2021; Mastroianni, 2020; Jowit, 2018; Kelly, 2022; Twenge, 2004), but also psychological research itself (Busfield, 2012; Collishaw et al., 2004; Wittchen et al., 2011; Hidaka, 2012; Almeida et al., 2020; Charles et al., 2013), it can, as elucidated above, feel like there are as many approaches and perspectives to treating and understanding these mental ailments, as there are questions and problems. As Nesse (2019) fittingly puts it,

"Like the six blind men each touching a different part of an elephant, each different approach to mental disorders emphasizes one kind of cause and a corresponding kind of treatment. Doctors who look for hereditary factors and brain disorders recommend drugs. Therapists who blame early experience and mental conflicts recommend psychotherapy. Clinicians who focus on learning suggest behaviour therapy. Those who focus on distorted thinking recommend cognitive therapy. Therapists with a religious orientation suggest meditation and prayer. And therapists who believe most problems arise from family dynamics usually recommend, predictably, family therapy." (p. 8)

Whereas, from a neuropsychological perspective, adopting an understanding of mental disorders as "diseases of the brain" can leave us susceptible to overlooking important insights from other perspectives and disciplines, such as social psychology, behaviourism, cognitive therapy and so forth (Nesse, 2019, p. 7), a more normative approach, such as positive psychology offers, risks carrying notions of how the human mind "*ought*" to function, and of how a person can maximise certain aspects of their psyche and personality traits in order to ensure their mental health and well-being.

However, no matter which approach is applied, to understand the human mind and practice psychology based solely on one perspective or theoretical framework is, as Nesse (2019) formulates it,

"like living within the walls of a medieval town. Trying to understand different perspectives is like visiting a series of walled towns. To see the whole landscape of mental illness requires a view from a mile high using special glasses that show changes across evolutionary as well as historical time" (p. 7)

When we look at the rising numbers of e.g., diagnoses and suicides, it becomes apparent that the various approaches we have at hand, to understand -and ultimately treat- mental disorders, of the past five decades, appear to not be working and that we thus might be in a dire need of new perspectives (Nesse, 2019, p. 9). The aim of this paper is therefore, to tentatively explore a theoretical basis for how we can comprehend the human mind and mental health from a naturalistic perspective, and thereby possibly begin to frame the groundwork for a tool that could help build a bridge between what classically has been treated as opposing questions in the scientific field of psychology — such as, for example, those of a social versus those of a neurobiological manner — for a more holistic and natural understanding of how the human psyche functions and how we are to comprehend it.

Problem statement

At the beginning of this project, stood a wonder about how, if possible at all, the human psyche could be elucidated through an interdisciplinary lens, applying more modern and naturalistic theories of mental illnesses, that could encompass questions of both social and biological nature in regard to mental health. After a tentative first exploration of the existing trends not only within the scientific field, but also the lay perception, of psychology, positive psychology arose as one of the more dominant, yet also normative, approaches to mental health at the current time, and it became apparent that more naturalistic understandings, such as an evolutionary perspective can offer, might be needed to better encompass all facets of mental health. In

addition, it also illuminated the question of when something becomes a disorder instead of perhaps just a common reaction to certain circumstances and uncomfortable feelings? And lastly, the question whether "negative" feelings perhaps simply are necessary -desirable even- in certain circumstances?

Those questions then lead to the following problem statement/research question presented in this thesis:

How can we understand the human psyche and mental health issues through a naturalistic and realistic lens? And could it be that negative emotions simply are necessary?

Method

As explicated in the foregoing chapter, the aim of this thesis is to firstly illuminate the need for an updated, more naturalistic, and multifaceted comprehension of the human psyche and mental illnesses, and secondly, tentatively explore theories which combined could frame the foundation of such a more encompassing approach within the field of psychology. This was first and foremost attempted through abductively constructing a map of sorts, which draws upon and critically analyses an already existing a body of empirical research, theories, and models, and discusses how, if at all, an evolutionary perspective - as proposed in later chapters - might be the answer to providing a more realistic approach to understanding the design of the human mind and mental health.

Abduction, a style of logic originally introduced by C.S. Pierce, involves elucidating general principles or casual explanations, that might explain observed data, and differs from inductive reasoning mostly by its creative processes with which conclusions are reached and new connections between pre-existing findings and theories are formed. In essence, the abductive approach is almost like a puzzle, where different pieces once put together form a bigger picture— not one that necessarily provides a definitive answer to a given problem, but instead seeks to offer the best probable – and nuanced - suggestion available at the time, albeit the

drawn upon observations and theories might still be incomplete. Research suggests that such abductive conclusions deviate significantly from normative models of logic and instead can offer more realistic and naturalistic perspectives (Vitti Rodrigues & Emmeche, 2019; Burks, 1946; Ward et al., 2016).

Furthermore, when elucidating or wanting to introduce biological and naturalistic views of the human mind, more often than not, those concepts will draw upon evolutionary understandings, since any kind of biological problems and explanations -sometimes more, sometimes less explicitly- include evolutionary considerations, seeing as evolutionary theory offers a system for understanding how life has evolved over time (Baldursson, 2020). Thereby, if one wants to illuminate a certain problem from a biological or naturalistic perspective, evolutionary realism is thought to be a good starting point. One of its premises is, that more intricate mechanisms have arisen as modifications of pre-existing, less complicated mechanisms. Yet evolution can only modify something that already exists, which means that all newer mechanisms have arisen as modifications of previous existing mechanisms or systems (Baldursson, 2020). This suggests and highlights the importance of evaluating and analysing when a particular function first emerged, so we then can consider which form of selection may have led to the change (mutation) of the given mechanism or phenomenon (Baldursson, 2020). Based on that we can then, as Baldursson (2020), argues, assess a number of theories that deal with the "self" and/or related functions. If we, however, ignored the evolution of a mechanism and solely looked at the modern expression of a function, the conclusions we draw could run the risk of being incomplete. Thus, evolutionary realism can be used both to assess the plausibility of, and as a perspective which can help enrich and strengthen, different theories (Baldursson, 2020), which the following chapters attempt to show.

Part I: Mental Health and Well-Being Research

As briefly elucidated in the introduction, there has, over the last one to two decades, been an upsurge of happiness related research in the scientific field of psychology, as well as a shift from descriptive notions of how the psyche is construed, to instead normative perspectives of how it "*ought*" to function (Rossi, 2012; Carlisle et al., 2009). While the increased focus on well-being, self-actualisation and self-optimisation is not by any means limited to psychological research, let alone the positive psychology movement, nor the only normative approach to understanding mental health, it can be argued to still be most prevalent within positive psychology as of date (Carlisle et al., 2009). Therefore, the aim of the following chapter is to firstly explore the roots and ideas of positive psychology, then lastly discuss where it falls short.

Positive Psychology

First introduced by Martin Seligman in 1998, positive psychology is the scientific study of what enables individuals to thrive and flourish at their best — with its main focus being the study of strengths, well-being and "optimal functioning" (Linely et al., 2006; Duckworth et al., 2004). Its research spectrum is broad, e.g., examining the effects of positive emotions and strength finding on both the body and the mind, motivation, experience of meaning and social relationships (Duckworth et al., 2004; Linely et al., 2006). According to Duckworth and colleagues (2004) the goal of positive psychology is to view the individual as "*more than the sum of damaged habits, drives, childhood conflicts, and malfunctioning brains*" (p. 632). At its core, the positive psychology movement was proposed as a response to an abundance of studies (and treatments) primarily focusing on mental illness, which was at the forefront of psychological research after the second World War and rooted the discipline of psychology in a disease model and illness ideology (Linely et al., 2006; Duckworth et al., 2004).

Instead of fixing what is "wrong", positive psychology instead aims to build what is "strong", thereby helping clients to lead more fulfilling and productive lives (Linely et al., 2006; Duckworth et al., 2004). While not directly implying that a good therapist doesn't seek to both build competencies and at the same time treat "deficits", positive psychology though criticizes the lack of attention (both from a scientific, but also from a clinical aspect) of the former (Duckworth et al., 2004), thereby seeking to redress what they perceive as an imbalance in the field of psychology and shift the focus onto positive emotions and traits (Duckworth et al., 2004; Linely et al., 2006).

More specifically, referring to Marie Jahoda's works (as cited by Duckworth et al., 2004), positive psychology bases its premise on illuminating mental health not only through a lens of mental illness and the absence of disorders, but in its own right. Highlighting "acceptance of oneself, growth/development/becoming, integration of personality, autonomy, accurate perception of reality, and environmental mastery" (Duckworth et al., 2004, p. 633) as the pillars of understanding mental health. In short, positive psychology seeks to understand the positive separate from negative — making the positive its own entity, all while also understanding it as a tool in leading more fulfilling lives and self-betterment.

However, the concept is not an entirely new one. Indeed, humanistic psychology is often discussed as the forefather of the positive psychology movement. With the roots of positive psychology tracing back to humanist psychologists such as Carl Rogers, Rollo May, Gordon Allport and Abraham Maslow — who are claimed to have tried and illuminate many of the same problems as positive psychologists (Duckworth et al., 2004; Cabanas & Sánchez-González, 2016). Questions, put forth by Duckworth and colleagues (2004), such as,

"What is the good life? When are individuals at their best? How can we encourage growth in ourselves and in others? What does it mean to be authentic? How can therapists build personal responsibility?" (p. 632)

The overlapping core idea here, seems to be the belief that patients and clients have the ability to actively better themselves through self-actualization (Linely at al., 2006; Duckworth et al., 2004). Methodologically, positive psychology strives to adhere to a normal, descriptive science with reliable and valid methods of assessment, integrating e.g., studies of effectiveness of interventions, prospective longitudinal studies and experimental methods (Duckworth et al., 2004).

Yet as Lazarus (2003) points out, while there is nothing wrong with focusing on these so called "favourable" traits and emotions, nor studying which role they play in coping and well-being, there seems to be an issue with the marketing of positive psychology. Namely, that researchers ought to focus on the positive, instead of the negative human qualities. The deeper-rooted issue, however, lies in assigning certain emotions and traits valence. Furthermore, Lazarus (2003) questions, whether it makes sense to criticise past research about stress and coping for favouring the negative, instead of positive, when both have long been subject of "good" stress and coping research, or as Lazarus (2003) puts it,

"Coping is not just about adaptive failure but is equally about success. Its failures are just as important as, maybe even more important than, its successes in helping us to understand the human struggle to survive and flourish and to facilitate success clinically. It is often said that we learn more from failures than from successes. Success and failure are interdependent, and we cannot really think of one without the other." (p. 106)

To assign value to emotions and ways of coping, classifying them as either positive or negative, could, in itself, be said to be problematic, as what is positive and negative heavily depends on the context, while simultaneously also -in a sensevilifying the negative.

In addition, it stands to question what exactly is meant by "positive" and "negative", and whether to look at certain difficulties through a Pollyanna lens really can be the answer to all problems. The good and the bad, the positive and the negative, are not only contextual but also functionally linked (Lazarus, 2003).

Furthermore, positive psychology seems to represent the preferred epistemological stance of the atomistic and interiorized self, predominantly adopted by many Western scientists, thereby risking to overlook possible cultural underpinnings and

adopting an abstractionist view of the self, thereby presenting the notion of the *disinterested observer* (Christopher et al., 2008; Christopher & Hickinbottom, 2008). As Christopher and colleagues (2008) argue, positive psychology

"presumes that the human agent or self is a highly individualized, abstracted, and detached observer of a world that is taking place quite separately from the observer and his or her observations." (p. 706)

The ideal of the disinterested observer thus accepts – or, perhaps, rather presumes – the notion of dualism, where there is a divide between the subjective and objective realm of being. The subjective realm, which contains opinions, values, beliefs, and feelings, is presumed to be independent of objective realm (aka the natural world outside of the individual). Since values are placed within the subjective realm, anything belonging to (or occurring in) the objective world only has relative meaning, dependent on how the disinterested observers themselves estimate their value or meaningfulness (Christopher et al., 2008; Slife & Richardson, 2008). Hence value and meaning are made, and the individual's self is independent of environmental factors and situations, implying that the self also is relatively stable and unswerving across different situations. The individual thereby once again becomes responsible for shaping their own life and creating their own happiness, adopting what Michael Sandel (as cited by Slife & Richardson, 2008) dubs 'minimalist' liberalism. Slife and Richardson (2008) highlight that, especially ethical questions become a rather hard to grasp concept, when adopting this highly abstract notion of individualism, void of any broader moral and cultural nexus. Ethics ergo become instrumentalized, where moral values are not essential parts of being human and social but means to an end in achieving results and payoffs (such as better health, feelings of autonomy, satisfaction etc.), thereby again promoting a highly individualistic idea of what it means to lead a good - if not even the best - life, presumably free of any relational meanings or environmental concerns (Christopher et al., 2008; Slife & Richardson, 2008). Cabanas (2018) points out, that

"One of the strongest assumptions in PP is that happiness is not a circumstantial, social, cultural, or political issue, but a psychological and

individual one. This idea is well-reflected in the so-called "happiness formula" (Seligman, 2002), according to which genetics accounts for about 50% of individuals' happiness; volitional, cognitive, and emotional factors account for 40%; and life circumstances and other factors, such as income, education, social status, and so on account for the remaining 10%." (p. 9)

Though claims of such a formular for happiness have been largely discredited by more recent research and further seems to contrast vast research linking the increasing rates of, mental illnesses, such as anxiety, depression and mood disorders, to the rise of the so called "me culture", as well as strive for happiness, in modern and capitalist societies (Cabanas, 2018; Horwitz & Wakefield, 2005). Similarly, Lazarus (2003) criticises the movement and many of its representatives for having "converted their oversimple dogmas into popular slogans designed to whip up enthusiasm for a vague and old-hat ideology that so far has had little new to say" (p. 107). Indeed, it seems what originally started with the idea of simply shifting the focus of psychological research onto mental well-being instead of mental-illness, has -perhaps though involuntarily- paved the way for some more ideological (and almost religious-like) theories and approaches, or what some may even call "toxic positivity".

Toxic Positivity

While there, as stated previously, per se is nothing wrong with adopting a positive mindset and the strive for happiness is nothing if not innately human (Ford & Mauss, 2014) it becomes problematic when we entirely repudiate the negative. Research (Gross & Levenson, 1997; Campbell-Sills et al., 2006; Dillard et al., 2018) has indicated, that suppressing 'negative' emotions such as sadness, fear, and grief, while instead forcing on a positive mindset, can potentially be harmful instead of helpful. Furthermore, not only do negative emotions such as sadness possess an adaptational function (Lomas, 2018; Nesse, 2015; Nesse, 2010), ignoring and suppressing them can worsen those feelings and overall decrease mental health. While positive psychologists, as elucidated in the previous chapter, lament the hitherto prevalent focus on pathology in psychological research and therapy, happiness research itself seems to inadvertently promote negative and problematised images of human beings, seeing as the study of positivity itself is based on a deficit model and assumes that

problems can be solved, if only the individual adopts and cultivates the correct attitudes (Frawley, 2015).

At the same time, while there's plenty of discussion about the positive effects of pursuing happiness and taking on a positive mindset, there's -as of yet- still little talk of the possible repercussions. However, as Ford and Mauss' (2014), recent findings have suggested, actively pursuing happiness can make it harder and less likely for a person to attain it. Paired with the inherent responsibility that is pushed onto the individual ("if you're not happy or healthy, that's your own fault"), it potentially paves the way for feelings of failure, inadequacy or weakness, and shame (Held, 2002; Ford et al., 2018). It also begs the question, whether people still are allowed to express their true emotions and feel bad (in whichever way) for a little while, or if those 'negative' feelings rather get shut down in a therapeutic setting in favour of an uncritical quest for positivity. To focus on a positive outlook and positive traits, is of course not intrinsically problematic, but given that research (Cross & Levenson, 1997; Campbell-Sills et al., 2006; Dillard et al., 2018) has highlighted the importance of acceptance and the downsides of suppression, shouldn't there equally be space to express 'negative' emotions? To discuss struggles in a non-judgemental environment? To vent without immediate solution finding or the need to self-reflect? As Held (2002) puts it,

"If therapists cannot tolerate the expression of pain or negativity, and if, as a result, they cannot provide real empathy in their rush to crush negative thoughts and feelings, then where will people go to reap the empirically demonstrated benefits of opening up productively? If we can't be real—if we can't be ourselves—in therapy of all places, then where?" (Held, 2002, p. 986)

As stated above, demonizing and inhibiting the expression of 'negative' feelings, might result in an increase of such, and even bring about guilt or further self-doubts. Another danger lies in both condemning, but also pathologizing rather natural and healthy feelings such as sadness and hopelessness. Sometimes we cannot just put on a happy face or think of a situation in a positive light, yet there now seems to be an inability to tolerate 'bad' feelings, even when they're perfectly reasonable and perhaps even healthy in certain situations. When positive thinking comes at the expanse of accepting negative emotions when appropriate, then it can indeed do more harm than good (Held, 2002; Campbell-Sills et al., 2006; Ellard et al., 2017).

An example of this, is research by James and Tennen (2010), who have criticized positive psychology's claim about the positive effects of positive thinking in cancer patients. James and Tennen (2010) argued, that there was no scientific evidence that positive attitudes could positively impact cancer patients' outcomes and health, nor that there was significant evidence for post-traumatic growth (the notion of strength and positive life experiences as the result of trauma, as proposed by positive psychology) following cancer battles. Instead, James and Tennen (2010) have warned of the harm of shifting the responsibility of health and happiness onto the individual.

Similarly, a study by Sinclair and colleagues (2020) has warned about the potential risks of positive attitudes in domestic abuse victims, pointing out that overgeneralized or misdirected positivity could potentially further endanger abuse victims. When an individual is an abusive relationship, the promotion of hopeful or positive thinking could instead be detrimental, encouraging the victim to stay in the abusive situation by shifting the responsibility to flourish onto them and making them feel as though the reason for their unhappiness is reflection of deficiency within them, seeing as positive psychology promotes the idea that psychological well-being is largely within an individual's own control and that the problem is the individual's perception, rather than the situation itself (Sinclair et al., 2020).

"At the foundation of positive psychology, then, is a deep belief in the plasticity of emotional states, and in the opportunistic conduct of the happy subject as one susceptible to the suggestive power of optimistic and pessimistic thought: negative emotional states derive from the perception of one's own helplessness to make oneself happy, the inability to transcend one's routines or an over-dependence on the emotional patterns that develop from unexamined, shared, social life. Positive emotions, on the other hand, come with the embrace of one's power to change one's emotional well being, and with the assumption of responsibility for those emotions." (p. 385) The danger of pushing positive attitudes and promoting the idea, that most problems can be fixed with a change of perception, thus lies within minimalizing actual problems and ergo risk overlooking more serious conditions. Furthermore, the idea that one can indeed shape their own happiness through agency, resourcefulness, motivation, and accountability for oneself bears roots of neoliberalism, making happiness and well-being synonymous with the ability to act on one's own, to be capable and "*right*". In turn, the failure of achieving happiness becomes a flaw within oneself, a character weakness even, and adds immense pressure on the individual themselves. Furthermore, it also promotes the notion that mental illnesses, such as depression and anxiety, arise because an individual is "weak" – or in the very least does not possess the necessary agency to shape their own well-being (Binkely, 2011; Frawley 2015).

Bandura (2008) analysing positive psychology from a agentic perspective of social cognitive theory states,

"To be an agent is to influence intentionally one's functioning and the course of environmental events. In this view, people are contributors to their life circumstances not just products of them. Among the mechanisms of agency none is more central or pervasive than beliefs of personal efficacy. This core belief is the foundation of human motivation, well-being, and accomplishments" (p. 167)

In short this indicates that an individual is responsible for their own well-being and thriving. Additionally, this idea is rooted in a direct-effects model, assuming that positive affect brings about good things, whereas negative affect brings about bad things — meaning that affect on psychosocial functioning in part is influenced by beliefs of personal efficacy (Bandura, 2018). In essence, from an agentic perspective such as proposed by Bandura (2018) and adopted by positive psychology, an individual's perceived self-efficacy is -at the very least partly- responsible for their emotions and mood, and whether those are positive or negative. In addition, efficacy beliefs are thought to shape people's outcome expectations, meaning a person's

belief in their own abilities will affect whether they expect favorable or unfavorable results (Bandura, 2018). Ultimately, this belief also impacts how opportunities and obstacles are perceived – whether a person regards their actions as futile or useful when faced with difficulties. People with low efficacy are viewed to easily give up trying, while those with high efficacy perceive those obstacles as controllable through the acquisition" of requite competencies and perseverant effort" (Bandura, 2018, p. 170). Hence, people with high efficacy – ergo belief in themselves and in a positive outcome of their actions - stay the course and remain resilient when faced with difficulties. Bandura (2018) even goes as far as pointing out that, efficacy beliefs not only affect the quality of emotional life, but also a person's vulnerability to stress and depression — claiming that while it's natural to feel devasted after a setback or failure, the ability to recover and bounce back relies on a person's belief in their ability to recover, as well as the individuals' decisions. At the core of positive psychology, as viewed through this agentic perspective, is the notion, that an individual's belief of personal efficacy has a hand in shaping their own life by influencing what kind of activities and environments they get into.

Moreover Bandura (2018), echoing popular ideas within positive psychology, claims that "human well-being and attainments require an optimistic and resilient sense of efficacy." Realists – according to Bandura (2018) – in turn are easily discouraged by failures or become cynical about their own ability to influence personal and social changes. Thus, Bandura (2018) proposes that, with the challenges of everyday life and its many difficulties and frustrations, one cannot afford to be a realist and that well-being ultimately requires an optimistic and resilient sense of efficacy – or perhaps rather disposition.

On the other hand, Lazarus (2003) criticizes the positive psychology movement and the modern strive for optimism, precisely for such a mindset, arguing that,

"Given the world in which we live, I would venture to suggest, however, that we need pessimists even more than optimists. Pessimists, or realists as many would prefer to think of themselves, mobilize valuable outrage against human depravity and its banality. Cruelty, murder, slavery, genocide, prejudice and discrimination, and worst of all perhaps, indifference to human suffering, abound, both today and in previous centuries. In reading about or experiencing this terrible litany of social evil, however, we also need to acknowledge the heroic goodness of many people, which has usually been mobilized by such evil." (Lazarus, 2003, p. 107)

From that perspective, it could be argued, that positive psychology and similar normative approaches within the scientific field of psychology risk overlooking that the good and the bad, the positive and the negative, are not existing independently of each other, but are - as mentioned above - functionally interlinked, and that neither one could be argued to be more natural than the other.

Part II: A naturalistic/realistic approach

A positive approach, in which the individual is made to feel responsible for their own unhappiness and their problems are minimalized, could -as elucidated above- result in a suppression of these negative emotions, which then in turn could increase and prolong them— thus turning the healthy expression of negative emotions in the face of a challenging situation, into something indeed pathological (Campbell-Sills et al., 2006; Frawley 2015; Horwitz & Wakefield, 2007; Fernandez-Rios & Novo, 2012; Morrall, 2008).

The aim of the following chapters is to instead frame a map of theories that adopt a more naturalistic approach to understanding mental health and the functions of our psyche. To do so, we first briefly introduce the long history of stress research and review how stress research has shifted perspectives throughout the years, since stress research is one of the best examples of an interdisciplinary topic in need of an integrative approach, in order for us to not only comprehend its psychological consequences on one hand, and its physical components on the other, but understand that how the stress system fundamentally is linked together on both levels (Goldstein & Kopin, 2007). The perspective of the body and mind as not two separate entities, but as linked through a variety of systems will further be explored through the theories of neural reuse and social pain. Lastly follows a discussion of the evolution of emotion and the use of negative feelings.

Stress

Historical background

The term "stress" was first used by Walter Cannon in relation to alarm situations (fight-or-flight) and its health effects have furthermore been widely known since Selye's early publications in the 1950s and 1960s (Cooper & Dewe, 2004). Selve formulated stress as a physical state under pressure, which is characterized by tension and resistance to external stimuli (stressors) - the general adaptation syndrome (GAS). Yet research from the last two decades has highlighted a wide range of issues related to the classic stress theories proposed by both Cannon and Selye (Baldursson et al., 2013). Hitherto various research has been carried out on the subject of stress, with the aim to shed more light on the mystery of "stress", resulting thus in numerous theories and models of stress. Baldursson and colleagues (2013) suggest that a theory on stress, which involves other and parallel developed psychophysiological systems than those explored by the classical stress theories, might be the key to understanding stress in all its facets. Therein included a distinction between the evolutionarily older general adaptation syndrome (GAS) and the newer system based on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical (HPA) axis, as well as an understanding of how the stress system is regulated through the more novel allostatic model proposed by Sterling and Eyer, and later expanded by McEwen (Goldstein & Kopin, 2007; Sterling & Eyer, 1988; McEwen, 2002), thereby replacing the original homeostasis model. Finally, this modern understanding of stress should also, as Baldursson and colleagues argue (2013), include theories of social pain, which can help explore how stress causes, regulates, and sharpens the experience of social pain in threatful situations. An inclusive, multilayered view on stress such as this, could open for a more multifaceted, modernized understanding and naturalistic approach in stress research (Baldursson, 2013). Furthermore, it could help illuminate the need for a more integrative paradigm, combining both evolutionary and neuroscientific, as well as psychological theories in modern psychological research.

Homeostasis and the beginnings of stress research

The idea of a disturbance of a physical equilibrium and a sequential development of diseases, as well the idea of the "soul" influencing, in one way or another, physical processes can be traced far back to ancient Greek philosopher such as e.g. Hippocrates and Epicurus (Schulz, 2009). However, the breakthrough in the understanding of stress underlies the pioneering work which Bernard began in the 19th century, when he coined the term *milieu intérieur*, describing a dynamic physiological equilibrium, where the internal environment of living organisms should remain constant despite changes in the external environment (Cooper & Dewe, 2004; Goldstein & Kopin, 2007; Schulz, 2009). Later, Cannon built on Claude Bernard's view of a stable and flexible internal environment, which he dubbed homeostasis, researching the responses of the sympathoadrenal system to threatening situations (Cooper & Dewe, 2004; Goldstein & Kopin, 2007). Cannon suggested, that when an organism is threatened and receives sensory information, the sympathetic nervous systems will quickly send out a signal which then activates the adrenal medulla through acetylcholine, increasing the release of adrenaline and noradrenaline, thereby activating the bodily mechanisms for "flight or fight" responses (Goldstein & Kopin, 2007; Goldstein, 2010; Hanschek, 2012). On a physical level this includes increased blood pressure, which causes the heart to beat faster, as well as increased blood sugar levels and a rise of the organism's blood's coagulation capacity. When the body's metabolic processes are skewed, for example through longer lasting stress, the sympathoadrenal system will work to return the body to homeostasis, either through activation or inactivation of the adrenal gland. Furthermore, Cannon proposed that these processes acted independent of the control of the central nervous system and took place locally in the body (Ramsay & Woods, 2014; Goldstein & Kopin, 2007; Goldstein, 2010; Hanschek, 2012). In short, homeostasis as understood through Cannon, is a concept of regulation, which (in line with Bernard) describes how different independent physiological systems interact with the purpose of re-establishing the conditions which existed before the stress system was activated (Goldstein & Kopin, 2007; Goldstein, 2010; Cooper & Dewe, 2004; Hanschek, 2012).

Expanding Cannon's original hypothesis, Selve later disclosed, that the organism's adaptive response to threats not only consists of catecholamine driven responses as suggested by Cannon, but also includes hormones secreted by the pituitary gland, globally affecting the central organ systems in significant, albeit indirect, ways (Meduri & Chrousos, 2020; Goldstein & Kopin, 2007; Ganzel et al., 2010). Based on the research Selve conducted, he suggested *the general adaptation syndrome* — a three-stage process model, describing the physiological changes the body goes through when under stress (Ganzel et al., 2010; Baldursson et al., 2013). The first stage being the *alarm reaction stage*, in which the body goes through the initial symptoms of stress, preparing itself to either fight or flee (Baldursson et al., 2013; Ganzel et al., 2010). One's heart rate increases, the adrenal gland releases cortisol and energy is increased through a boost of adrenaline. Following the alarm reaction stage, the body moves into the resistance stage, where it repairs itself - cortisol levels decrease the heart rate and blood pressure slowly begins to normalise (Baldursson et al., 2013; Ganzel et al., 2010). Yet, even while entering recovery, one remains on high alert for the meanwhile. If there no longer are any stressors, the body is able to recover, but if the stressful situation continues for an extended period of time, it can lead to the third stage – *the exhaustion stage* (Baldursson et al., 2013; Ganzel et al., 2010; Cooper & Dewe, 2004). This last stage is viewed a result of prolonged or chronic stress and the physical effects are various, putting one at risk of developing stress-related illnesses and weakening one's immune system, slowly draining the organism, and leading to its breakdown (Baldursson et al., 2013; Ganzel et al., 2010; Cooper & Dewe, 2004).

Understanding Selve

Selye's model of stress has deeply impacted the understanding of stress and one might even argue, paved the way for further stress research. However, it could be argued that Selye's model of stress is rather vague, due to Selye defining stress as a nonspecific response of the body to differing harmful stressors, as almost anything can cause stress (Baldursson et al., 2013; Cooper & Dewe, 2004). As mentioned earlier, Selye considered stress an innate system, which following an initial alarm phase, involves a stage of either resistance or adaptation to a stressor and ultimately can result in a stage of exhaustion, and even death. What this model fails to address,

though, is the phenomenological aspect of it, i.e., what might activate the stress response (Jackson, 2014). Furthermore, it suggests that stress will be experienced and act out in the same way, regardless of the nature of the stressor or how it's perceived (Baldursson et al., 2013). Thus, if we accept the premise of Selye's model and the many stress theories that largely build upon it, we would likely also have to view stress as an universal experience. Which raises the question why, if stress indeed was but a nonspecific response, some people do well in certain situations where others experience stress (Mason, 1971; Ganzel et al., 2010). From a homeostatic viewpoint, it could be argued that the extent of the stress experience itself, is an expression of the sum of stressors. Ergo, it can be viewed as the sum of the intensity with which the stressors appear and how often and for how long they appear. In that sense, stress could almost be put into an equation and, in some way, regarded quantifiable (Baldursson et al., 2013). Nevertheless, it seemingly still does not account for why the same level of stress leads to different diseases when the processes seem to be so universal and regulated? In relation to this, Selye (1974 as cited by Cooper & Dewe, 2004) later introduced the concept of conditioning factors, which either can decrease or increase the effects of stress. Their origin is either external or internal, and examples of such conditioning factors would be certain nutrients or genetic predispositions. Such conditioning factors can, according to Selye (1974 as cited by Cooper & Dewe, 2004), lead to normally well-tolerated levels of stress having a pathogenic effect and thereby account to a certain degree for the differences in human stress response. Yet, whereas e.g., Lazarus (1993; 1974) would argue that our emotions are qualitative reactions, which are dependent on an individual's distinctive relationship with the world around them, Selye's understanding of stress, more or less, solely indicates that a stress response has been activated and that the stress system now is reacting to it (Mason, 1971; Ganzel et al., 2010; Cooper & Dewe, 2004). Additionally, Selye's model of stress can only tell that there are different mental and physical consequences of stress (especially in prolonged stress), yet is unable to account for what those consequences will be (Baldursson et al., 2013). Thereby, stress is not only non-specific in its cause, but also to its effects. So albeit its popularity, Selye's general adaptation syndrome, hasn't been without criticism or shortcomings. Mason (1971) for example, has suggested that the stress system also involves an emotional (or mental) component, demonstrating that parts of the GAS vary, depending on both the individual and the

situation. This view on stress opens for the possibility that if the psychological aspects are affected - either extending or decreasing the significance of the stressor - the GAS response decreases or disappears altogether, thereby adding a more specific, as well as qualitative nature to stress responses, which has been missing in Selye's GAS model (Baldursson et al., 2013). Mason (1971) argued that there is little need or use for 'non-specificity' concepts, other than perhaps in relation to situations that incite psychophysiological or psychoendocrine reactions. In lieu, Mason (1971) proposed, that future studies should rather focus on isolating 'pure' stimuli, both in regard to physical and psychological, whilst studying endocrine regulation, as

"not only is there an important problem in the identification of psychological factors and their elimination from the stimulus situation, but a number of natural 'physical stress' situations actually involve a variable mixture of several 'pure' stimuli in a physiological sense" (p. 331).

Thereby Mason (1971) highlighted the importance of placing attention on the sensitivity and ubiquity of psycho-endocrine mechanisms, proposing that stress can be viewed as neither a purely physical- nor psychological system.

Yet, as pointed out by Cooper and Dewe (2004), Mason's critique of Selye and the GAS, reflects a tendency of wrongfully assuming a linkage between Selye's work and the growing interest in the psychological features of stress. Seyle's research on stress was heavily based in the biological, regarding stress first and foremost as a purely medical and physiological phenomenon, with little thought to the psychological or sociological aspects of it (Cooper & Dewe, 2004; Selye, 1983; Jackson, 2014).

Furthermore, it is important to take into account the historical context of both Selye's work, but also homeostasis in general.

Historical context

As mentioned previously, the breakthrough in the understanding of stress often is allocated to the work of Bernard in the 19th century. The *milieu intérieur*, Bernard's

key concept, displays a mechanistic view of biology that was rather typical around this time. Similar to any machine, the behaviour of humans, as well as all other organisms, could be explained by its parts and the ways those parts are designed to work (Cooper & Dewe, 2004). This, in many ways, reflects a reductionist approach that was typical for the 19th century, where illnesses were believed to be results of external forces affecting the body's normal functioning, which could only be cured if the body was restored to its initial point - its "factory setting" if one will. The notion of mental processes could influence physiological functioning did not fit into this mechanistic view of human health (Cooper & Dewe, 2004). Instead there was a demand for objective mechanistic methods and a science that could be exact (Cooper & Dewe, 2004). Extending Bernard's work on the milieu intérieur, Cannon (1939 as cited by Cooper & Dewe, 2004) then later introduced the concept of homeostasis the body's ability to self-regulate and maintain its status quo. This equilibrium being regulated through the sympathetic division of the autonomic system, Cannon (as cited by Cooper & Dewe, 2004) postulated that a signal is sent out immediately when an organism threatened by change and corrective mechanisms, to either restore or altogether prevent the change, are set in motion, to guarantee relative stability and continue to be effective. Cannon's aim was to understand the mechanisms and limitations behind these regulatory processes, pondering how the human body could withstand and constantly repair the daily attritions of life (Cooper & Dewe, 2004; Jackson, 2014).

Selye, inspired by Cannon's work, and often referencing him in his research, built on the idea of homeostasis in his research on stress, thereby somewhat staying in line with the mechanistic, almost engineering-like, view of Cannon and Bernard (Cooper & Dewe, 2004).

After the second world war and with a growing change in the conditions of daily life, society, work and the economy, the interest in stress only increased. Also, and perhaps especially, from a psychological perspective (Cooper & Dewe; Jackson, 2014). Reflecting mainly the concerns mid-and postwar, the prevalent focus was now on the "stresses of war" and its relation to mental health. The word stress soon became a part of everyday language and psychologists were in demand more than ever. Researchers more often investigated the psychological mediators of stress, such as coping and appraisal (see the following chapter) and Selye's work on stress was

more and more under a critical lens. Forgetting, however, as pointed out earlier, that Selye never set out to account for the psychological factors of stress and only later came to acknowledge that illuminating the psychological aspects could be beneficial in understanding stress (Cooper & Dewe, 2004; Jackson, 2014). Hence for Selye the term "stress" referred more to the normal body function being disturbed by e.g., an underlying ailment, and the organism hence being out of equilibrium, rather than what we today in psychology might regard as "stress".

Transactional Model of Stress

From a Transactional Model of Stress approach, stress responses are viewed as complex, interactional processes between the requirements of a situation and the person reacting to it (Cooper & Dewe, 2004; Lazarus, 1974; Lazarus, 1993). More specifically, the model proposes that there is a transactional process involved in stress, where an evaluation process is interposed between the stressor and the stress reaction — it implies that stress is not caused by either personal or environmental factors exclusively, but rather a combination of both (Lazarus, 1993; Cooper & Dewe, 2004). It suggests that personal and environmental factors have a dynamic and bidirectional relationship. Contrary to other, earlier stress theories, such as those of Cannon and Selve respectively, Lazarus proposed that not the objective nature of the stimuli or situation, but their subjective evaluation by the person is important and will determine the stress reaction (Cooper & Dewe, 2004). Ergo, this approach, adopts the notion that each person can be susceptible to a given stressor in different ways: What means stress for one person, is not necessarily perceived as stressful by another (Lazarus, 1993; Cooper & Dewe, 2004). The transactional model of stress thus aims to explain why people react differently to the same stressors and states that the stress response depends solely on how a person perceives the stressor cognitively and how well they cope with it. Coping, as Lazarus (as cited by Cooper & Dewe, 2004, p. 76) formulates it, being "constantly changing cognitive and behavioural efforts to manage specific external and/or internal demands that are appraised as taxing or exceeding the resources of the person".

Lazarus (as cited by Cooper & Dewe, 2004) proposes that there are three stages involved in how a person responds to stress:

- (I) Primary appraisal, where situations can be assessed as either irrelevant, benign-positive, or stressful. If a situation is experienced as stressful, it can then further be perceived as either challenging in a manageable way, as a threat or as harmful/loss (as in the harm's already been done) (Cooper & Dewe, 2004)
- (II)Secondary appraisal, where it's assessed whether the given situation can be managed with the resources (various biological, social, and psychological mechanisms for handling the demands from the stressor) available to the person. If the resources are perceived as insufficient, a stress response reaction is triggered and a coping strategy, which is dependent on the situation as well as the cognitive framework and characteristics of the person, is designed. Relating to this stage, Lazarus names different types of coping strategies, such as problem-focused coping, emotion-focused coping, and cognitive coping. *Problem-focused coping* relates to the nature of the situation or stressor and here the individual is said to try to overcome a stressful situation or find ways to adapt to the situation by informing themselves about the situation, taking or failing to take direct action. Whereas with *emotion-orientated coping*, the main aim is to reduce the emotional arousal triggered by the situation. The goal of *cognitive coping* is to reappraise stress as a challenge rather than a threat — through coping, the stressed individual can cognitively reevaluate their relationship to the environment and perceive the given stressful situation as positive, rather than negative (Cooper & Dewe, 2004).
- (III) The third and final stage is *reappraisal*, where the success of the coping strategy of stage two is judged to affirm a successful adaptation to the new situation. If the individual learnt how to deal with the threat, the stressor might be perceived as nothing more than a challenge. However, if the situation can't be coped with, what might have been a challenge might then be perceived as a threat. Reassessment can either be based on new information from the environment or on the re-evaluation of the coping strategy (Cooper & Dewe, 2004).

This model implies that a stressful situation can be perceived as stressful, even when there's no real threat to the person and thus differs from Selye's idea of a general physiological response to a stressor, albeit agreeing that the human body responds defensively to stressors and disturbed homeostasis, which when prolonged can result in more health issues (Cooper & Dewe, 2004; Lazarus, 1993; Lazarus, 1974). Additionally, it seeks to elucidate how a person copes can impact their health negatively, i.e., through adopting coping mechanisms such as alcohol or drug abuse, this furthermore highlighting how individual each person's stress response is (Cooper & Dewe, 2004; Lazarus, 1993; Lazarus, 1974). Summa summarum, the transactional model of stress, and even more so Lazarus's research itself, places great importance on the person's emotions in accordance to how they respond to stress, suggesting that how the person perceives stress and how they end up coping with the situation, as well as adapts to life in general, heavily depends on the emotion they associate with different stressful situations (Cooper & Dewe, 2004; Lazarus, 1974; Lazarus, 1993). While it intuitively sounds reasonable that emotions and our assessment can influence the way we react to a stressor, one could argue that even when we perceive a situation positively in nature, it can still manifest itself as stressful. Considering, for example, moving into a new house — even while this certainly could be perceived as a positive situation with a promising outcome, the process can still be as stressful to a person, though they mostly have positive emotions about the situation itself. Similarly, a person could very well love their work and even workplace, yet experience stress be it due to, e.g., ever changing demands or changes in their personal life.

Modern approaches to stress

Allostasis

These classical theories, in summa, propose that a system is dynamic, but operates within narrow limits, typically in the form of a balance point that is sought to be reestablished following any kind of disturbance. However, the concept of homeostasis could be argued to be more of a logical concept rather than a theory in and of itself (Baldursson et al., 2013). Allostasis, an alternative view on the physiological regulation of stress, builds upon the concept of homeostasis but goes beyond it by introducing the notion, that, in order to be adaptive and be able to adjust to an everchanging environment, an efficient regulation requires the ability to change its inherent levels or parameters when the need arises, as opposed to homeostasis, in which the goal is a consistent state (Baldursson et al., 2013; Sterling & Eyer, 1988; McEwen, 2002). In other words, whereas homeostasis is simply the maintenance of a stable internal environment in an organism through fixed values, which deviate but ultimately always return to its status quo, despite changes in the external environment, the goal of the allostatic mechanism is not fixed immutable values, but a system that changes and reflects the history of the organism's interaction, i.e. the process of achieving stability through changes in physiological behaviour under changing external conditions (Baldursson et al., 2013; McEwen, 2002). An example could be an increased blood pressure in a stressful environment, which is relative to the level maintained in a less stressful one. Additionally, allostasis opens for psychosocial/socioeconomic stressors to be considered as factors we respond to and highlight how our systems adjust to those (Baldursson et al., 2013).

Allostatic load

The term allostatic load refers to the so-called "wear and tear" reactions, which occur due to repeated or chronic experience of stress and was first introduced by Sterling and Eyer (Sterling & Eyer, 1988; Baldursson et al., 2013; McEwen, 2002). The theory is based on the regulation model of allostasis, as briefly elucidated in the previous chapter. McEwen (1998) defines allostasis as, "*adaptation in the face of potentially stressful challenges involves activation of neural, neuroendocrine and neuroendocrine-immune mechanisms*" (p. 33). Under normal circumstances, these adaptive systems, when used efficiently and not too often, help the body cope with challenges which otherwise might be overwhelming and life-threatening.

In summa, allostatic mechanisms help the organism regulate, by predicting demand and need for compensation. However, as this predictive regulation leads to a considerable utilisation of energy, it can end in a chronic accumulation of allostatic load – especially if the source of disturbance is not eliminated or, put in other words, if the situation is not resolved. The allostatic systems are, as suggested, not without fail and can overstimulate or do not function as intended, resulting in a "wear and tear" on the body and brain, which is what McEwen and Stellar consequently termed "allostatic load" or "the price of adaptation" (McEwen, 1998). The automatic nervous system (ANS), hypothalamopituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis and immune system produce mediators which then generate allostasis (McEwen, 2002). There's furthermore evidence that indicates that allostasis even is involved in the brain, comprising of the release of neurotransmitters and nerve cell activity. McEwen (1998) names three different kinds of allostatic load: (1) a recurrent activation of allostatic systems, (2) not being able to shut off allostatic activity after stress, and (3) a deficient response of the allostatic systems, which then lead to increased activity of other, usually counter-regulated allostatic systems after stress. Examples of allostatic load include e.g., the loss of bone-mineral density, atrophying nerve cells in the hippocampus and the build-up of fat in the abdominal region (McEwen, 2002).

The concept of allostatic load hypothesises that e.g., cardiovascular, emotional, neuroenergetic and neuroendocrine responses remain constantly activated, so turbulence in the blood flow in the coronary- and the arteries supplying the brain, high blood pressure, atherogenesis, cognitive dysfunction and depression all can accelerate the progression of a disease. Thereby it's possible for an allostatic load to permanently change the brain's structure and further progress pathophysiological ailments (Wirtz et al., 2013; McEwen, 2002; Lu et al., 2021; Golstein & Kopin, 2009).

Put Into Perspective: Positive versus naturalistic perspective of stress

Positive and agentic approaches to stress view stress as something that is significantly influenced by an individual's ability to cope and exercise control over given stressors. Thus e.g., Bandura (2008) argues that the exposure to stressors without the ability to control them, activates certain physical (e.g., the cardiovascular and the automatic) systems, whereas exposure to the same stressors with the ability

to extort control over them has no "adverse" physical effects, and furthermore claims that,

"most human stress is activated while developing competencies for managing the demands of everyday life. Moreover, their stress is governed, in large part, by beliefs about their coping efficacy. Stress experienced while gaining mastery and hope enhances immune status rather than impairs it [....] The higher the growth in perceived self-efficacy, the better the immune status. This has substantial evolutionary benefits. Given the prevalence of stressors in everyday life, if they only impaired immune function, we would be bedridden much of the time, if not done in." (Bandura, 2008, p. 177)

However, biological and evolutionary based stress theories, as elumindated above, indicate that stress is a far more complex phenomenon, which cannot simply be understood as a perturbation. In lieu, theories such as those of homeostasis and allostasis, suggest that stress is an intricate system, which is, as Goldstein and Kopin (2007, p. 109) point out, "*characterized by a perceived discrepancy between information about a monitored variable and criteria for eliciting patterned effector responses*". As the following chapters will expound further, the stress system is also linked to various other functions and mechanisms in our psyche, which makes adopting an integrative understanding of it all the more important.

The human psyche and evolution

To not only understand human psyche, but also the functional organisation of the brain and cognition, it might be beneficial to first and foremost look at how the brain evolved. Current studies (Anderson, 2010; Aisenberg & Henik, 2010) insinuate, that though the brain may originally have developed as an organ with specifically assigned functional regions, there has since, through evolution, been a creative reuse of said regions, mirroring essentially the evolution of other abilities where pre-existing systems are repurposed, reused and built upon through evolutionary development (Anderson, 2010). Thus Anderson (2010) argues, that the creative reuse of pre-existing neural mechanisms likely has had a prominent hand in the evolutionary development of cognition.

As such, research within neural reuse not only has implications for our understanding of the evolutionary foundation and development of cognitive function but might also help guide future experimental and clinical neuroscience.

Neural Reuse

According to neural reuse theories, which considers the reuse of neural circuitry in relation to numerous cognitive purposes a main organisational drive, it is rather normal for established neural circuits to be repurposed and reassigned to different uses, over the course of evolution, while at the same time also maintaining their initial functions (Anderson & Penner-Wilger, 2013; Anderson, 2010). These theories thereby differ from the hitherto traditional understanding of neural plasticity's purpose in brain organisation. Whereas typically, in plasticity theories, the brain involved some unusual circumstances, e.g., the loss of functions due to head injuries and the like, theories of neural reuse do not necessitate such changes to local circuit structures for novel purposes and connections to be established. Instead, it is assumed to involve new neural partners in the establishment of these new functional connections. Indeed, various research (Cosmides, 1989; Gould, 1991; Wilson, 2001; Glenberg & Kaschak, 2002; Cruse ,2003; Immordino-Yang et al., 2010; Anderson, 2010; Anderson & Penner-Wilger, 2013) seem to support the notion of reuse in cognition, as well as presenting neuroanatomic evidence (Andersen et al., 2013; Anderson, 2010; Anderson & Penner-Wilger, 2013) that the brain progressed by combining, expanding and maintaining existing networks and neural circuits. One theory which touches upon this evidence and seeks to link the evolution of the brain with the reuse and expansion of existing systems and cognitive functions, is Anderson's (2010) massive redeployment hypothesis, which proposes that "evolutionary considerations might often favor reusing existing components for new tasks over developing new circuits de novo" (p. 246). According to Anderson (2010) this notion of neural reuse would indicate that one brain region would be responsible for various cognitive functions. Research pointing into the opposite direction – namely there being dedicated connections and regions for every new function however, would rather support localist theories of how the brain has evolved. Based on his research, Anderson (2010) lists three evolutionary advantages such reuse of

existing components might have: 1) A typical brain area will be used by various cognitive functions and in diverse task categories, (2) evolutionarily older brain areas will be engaged in more cognitive functions, and (3) more recent cognitive functions will take more more advantage of more widely scattered brain areas.

More in depth this means, that older brain areas, available for reuse longer, should all the same be integrated in cognitive functions that have arisen later and that there thus should be a correlation between the evolutionary development and age of a brain region and the rate at which its redistributed to other cognitive functions — ergo, the older an area, the more multipurposed it should be (Anderson, 2010). Furthermore, newer functions would be spread out more widely across different brain areas than evolutionary older functions, since there'd be a broader palette of preestablished neural circuits these newer functions could build upon (Anderson, 2010). Looking at brain organisation from this angle, certainly offers new ways to understand how the human brain and psyche evolved, as well as how cognitive functions and emotions are regulated.

The social brain, neural reuse and emotions

The basic capabilities to perceive and react to major events are present even in simple single cell organisms and perseveres in all invertebrates and vertebrates. While vertebrates brain plan overall is well-preserved, there certainly are differences in complexity and size. Classically it's been proposed that mammalian evolution led to drastic and fundamental changes which changed and added new forebrain structures — i.e., the limbic system and neocortex. However, this idea – as well as the notion that emotion heavily develops in the limbic areas – has been refuted (LeDoux, 2013). Modern theories of emotions, now place emphasis on specific emotional systems, e.g., defence and fear systems, in lieu of a universal emotional system (LeDoux, 2013).

Immordino-Yang and colleagues (2010) propose that neural reuse is a dynamic, socially organised process, involving cultural and social processes, and is influenced evolutionary, as well as ontogenetically by cultural transmission of values, mental practises, and ways of thinking. They furthermore point out, that Anderson's theory of massive redeployment should be broadened to make room for cultural effects on the functioning of structurally similar neural systems and the insinuations of these variations for neural reuse, as neural systems are considered to also be reused in the development and evolution of complex human behaviours, e.g., social emotion (Immordino-Yang et al., 2010). Thus, recent research indicates that a reciprocal reuse between non-social and social neural systems, as well as the highlights the significance of cultural transmission as a means for repurposing and combining neural systems in new manners in human learning and evolution. In particular, the reuse between a social and a somatosensory system in the feeling of social emotions seems most conspicuous. Consider this: While angry it might feel as though someone was wrenching your guts, and when upset, it might feel as if a stone is sitting on your chest — these are common metaphors people use to describe how their emotional turmoil might manifest itself in physical symptoms and it seems, as research (Eisenberger et al., 2003; Eisenberger, 2012; Eisenberger, 2011; MacDonald & Leary, 2005) indicates, that certain brain systems indeed are responsible for physical pain in certain areas (such as the viscera) indeed are involved in humans experience of social and psychological pain. Immordino-Yang and colleagues (2010) furthermore point out that,

"These systems are also involved in the feeling of late-developing social emotions about another person's psychologically or physically painful, or admirable, circumstances. These systems most notably involve the anterior insula, anterior middle cingulate, and ascending somatosensory systems in the dorsal midbrain, most directly associated with the regulation of arousal and homeostasis." (Immordino-Yang et al., 2010, p. 276)

Taking these findings into account, it not only indicates that neural reuse is involved in social processes, as well as emotions, but might even, if further expanded, explain, and help understand the dynamic between psychological or social distress and certain physical symptoms. Research by Parker and colleagues (2001) for example shows how Westerners typically express depression psychologically, whereas psychological distress tends to manifest itself somatically in different Asian populations. Applying a neural reuse perspective, might open for a new understanding of such differences within the somatisation and not only cultural, but also brain processes involved (Immordino-Yang et al., 2010).

Psychological/social pain

In the previous chapter, it was briefly mentioned how psychological distress at times manifest themselves in physical symptoms. Furthermore, it was suggested, that certain brain systems responsible for physical pain also are involved in humans experience of social and psychological pain. Indeed, an emerging body of evidence (Eisenberger et al., 2003; Eisenberger, 2012; Eisenberger, 2011; MacDonald & Leary, 2005) from the last few decades, indicates that social pain –such as the feeling of rejection, heartbreak, or loss- may very well depend on pain-related neural circuitry. Albeit our often strict distinction between physical and social -as well as psychological-pain, accumulating research (Eisenberger et al., 2003; Eisenberger, 2012; Eisenberger, 2011; MacDonald & Leary, 2005) has shown that the experience of such pain might not differ all that much from that of physical pain. More concretely, research from both humans and animal studies elucidate how social and physical pain share, and rely on, a mutual neural and neurobiological basis namely, mu-opioid-related signalling -which pain processing heavily depends onand on the other hand shared neural activity within regions classically linked to the more often than not uncomfortable experience of physical pain (Eisenberger, 2012). The idea of social pain was first brought up by Panksepp and colleagues in the late 1970s, building their concept upon evidence that suggested that the social attachment system was built upon and relying on older systems such as that involved in pain (MacDonald & Leary, 2005). Perhaps even more influential was Panksepp's discovery of mu-opioids significant role in the experience of social stress. Muopioids are neurotransmitters and typically known for their role in pain processing, yet as Panksepp's research (as cited by MacDonald & Leary, 2005) has revealed, they also appear to be involved in separation distress related behaviours. Furthermore, it's been indicated that drugs such as morphine and codeine, which are usually administered to relieve pain, also seem to have an effect on the sensation of social pain. In relation to the aforementioned, Eisenberger (2012) points out that,

"across several mammalian species, morphine, which increases mu-opioidrelated activity, reduces separation-distress vocalizations made by infants when separated from their mothers, whereas naloxone, which inhibits muopioid-related activity, increases distress vocalizations." (p. 43)

Moreover, as mentioned above, physical, and social pain also rely on the same shared neural components. Despite the sensation of pain being difficult to distinguish and the feeling of pain often is described simply as painful, research (MacDonald & Leary, 2005) suggests that there's at least two differing underlying mechanisms. Firstly, there's a sensory element to the experience of pain, which is not only objective but also both informs us about where the pain is located, as well as with which intensity we're to experience the pain. Secondly, there's an affective element, that regulates as how distressing or unpleasant we are to perceive the pain. Eisenberger (2012) argues, that, social pain relies most on neural areas involved in the affective element of pain due to the significance of it "for signaling an aversive state and motivating behaviors to reduce it" (Eisenberger, 2012). Nonetheless, since physical complaints often follow the experience of social pain, it's not improbable to assume, that there's also a link between the sensory element and our experience psychological/social pain — which, with reference to the previous chapter, indeed also seems to be supported by evidence from research on neural reuse, as well evidence stemming from neuroimaging which revealed that the same set of neural regions is activated both in the sensation of physical, as well as social pain.

In a study by Eisenberg and colleagues (2003), participants were asked to engage in a virtual ball-tossing game by the name of *Cyberball*. While they were led to believe that they were playing along with two other players –who, however, were computer simulated– they were allowed to play freely in the initial round, then during the second round, the participants of the study were socially excluded by the other, artificial two players, who stopped throwing the ball to them. Neuroimaging revealed that, when the participants were excluded by the other players, they showed significantly greater activity in the dorsal anterior cingulate cortex (or dACC), which is a brain region involved in cognition and motor control but also is selective for pain. As Eisenberg and colleagues (2003) point out, the heightened activity in the dACC was reciprocal to the feeling of rejection from the exclusion. Furthermore,

there also seemed to be activity within the anterior insula — areas that also often are linked to the distress of physical pain (Eisenberg et al., 2003; Eisenberg, 2012). Subsequent research on the pain of rejection and exclusion, as well as negative appraisal from peers, additionally support these initial findings. Hence studies have showed that even viewing images that indicate social rejection is able to active these affective-pain-related brain regions, without participants actually having to experience the rejection in person (Eisenberger, 2012). Heightened activity in the dACC and anterior insula has additionally also been linked to being shown disapproving faces in videos and grief, as well as heartbreak (Kross et al., 2007; Eisenberger, 2012; O'Connor et al., 2008). The pain following heartbreak or romantic rejection has moreover also been identified to be activated in sensoryrelated brain areas, such as the secondary somatosensory cortex and posterior insula, which usually is known for its involvement in physical-pain responses.

Summa summarum, the evidence emerging from these various studies, suggest that social pain does activate the same neural regions otherwise linked to feelings of distress, and even –though less common– sensory sensations, in physical pain responses. Albeit different in nature and not interchangeable, physical and social pain at least seem to share intersecting neural and neurobiological foundations when it comes to how they're perceived and processed (Eisenberger, 2012).

One might wonder about the necessity of perceiving these different social experiences as painful — or in other words why humans have evolved mechanisms that brings them so much despair when being faced with negative social experiences. In relation, Eisenberger (2012) points out that, from an evolutionary perspective, it might actually make good sense, seeing as,

"humans, as a mammalian species, face a very long period of immaturity, in which they rely almost completely on others (caregivers) to obtain the necessary nourishment and protection. Later in life, connection to a social group promotes survival through shared responsibilities for food acquisition, predator protection, and offspring care" (p. 42). It is hypothesized that, through the course of human evolution, our social-attachment system might have built upon the older physical-pain systems, using the already existing pain signals to warn of possible social exclusion and encourage the strengthening or reestablishment of previous social bonds, thereby suggesting that social pain is an adaptive way of ensuring survival, seeing as humans (especially in the past) heavily depend on their caregivers when younger, but also later on their social group (Eisenberger, 2012; McDonald & Leary, 2005). In addition, the pain we feel upon social rejection or criticism, might very well also be an adaption function, meant to motivate us to avoid engaging in socially unacceptable behaviour that would lead to exclusion or at the very least threaten the way we're perceived by others (Eisenberger, 2012). In fact, McDonald and Leary (2005) argue that,

"such threats are partly mediated by the same system that processes physical pain because the pain system was already in place when social animals evolved adaptations for responding to social exclusion." (p. 202)

The Evolution of Emotions

The history of studying emotions and their functionality dates far back in psychology. However, in psychology, traditional understandings of how emotions aid 'adaptation' was not based in biology (Nesse, 1998). Rather than understanding adaptations as traits shaped by natural selection, which serve functions that then increase net reproductive success, the function and 'adaptation' of emotion was viewed as an individual's ability to adjust to different social settings (Nesse, 1998). In lieu, research from an evolutionary biology perspective, tries to elucidate how selective mechanisms have shaped emotions through a linkage to our evolutionary history or in other words, through a phylogenetic understanding (Nesse, 1998; Nesse et al., 2009; Baldursson, 2013). However, even many of the studies and models which adopt an evolutionary perspective were, as Nesse (1998) points out,

"based on outmoded ideas such as group selection, or they confound questions about individual differences with questions about the generic design of the organism, or they are based on vague statements about the general benefits of emotional states, such as happiness, that are purported to be more beneficial than other states" (p. 398).

Albeit there historically being significant disagreement about the right approach to studying emotions through an evolutionary perspective, there at least seems to have been a consensus regarding its importance (Nesse et al., 2009).

So how can we understand emotions through an evolutionary lens?

At the bottom of the concept of the evolution of emotion is the notion, that certain situations with key adaptive challenges surfaced rather often in the course of evolution, while the individuals with a genetic tendency to adjust well to those changes (i.e. adjust 'settings' of both body and mind to meet new requirements) had greater reproductive success — thereby also passing those new adjusted parameters down to their offspring (Nesse, 1998). From this perspective, Nesse (1998) argues that, "*emotions are analogous to computer programs that take over the operation of many aspects of the system to improve the ability to deal with specific adaptive challenges*" (p. 398).

Then, when a specific situation has recurred often enough and thus also impacted fitness sufficiently during evolution, it is able to shape distinct emotional modes. Rather than seeking to find an explanation for certain emotions in the characteristics of the emotion or situation, Nesse (1998) suggests that we'd better ask how the characteristics of the emotion give a selective advantage in regard to the adaptive challenges in a given situation. Ergo, we ought to evaluate the evolutionary utility of an emotion, finding explanations through explicit descriptions of a chosen situation and seek to illuminate how the emotion could be useful to the selective forces in the situation (Nesse, 1998). Emotions can give advantages for example through changes in cognition or physiology, motivation and modification of behavior and "like everything else in the body, the mechanisms that regulate protective responses can fail, causing conditions such as chronic pain and anxiety disorders" (Nesse et al., 2009, p. 21). In summa, emotions are complex and multifaceted, not necessarily solely aiding one function. When trying to expound on what the core emotions are, or how many of those exist, it's also important to highlight, that natural selection shapes new unique states of arousal based on pre-existing states, shaping

them so the differentiate enough from the original ones to offer incremental advantages (Nesse, 1998).

In addition, adopting this evolutionary approach to emotions also aids in illuminating why emotions typically have positive and/or negative capabilities — simply put, if a situation did not either present opportunities or risks, it would not shape a new distinct state. Or in other words, neutral emotions would serve no purpose in the grand scheme of selective advantages. Often and for most species, there is only a limited variety of situations that offer opportunities, whereas there are far more situations that present certain risks, thereby increasing the need for more negative, rather than positive emotions (Nesse, 1998; Nesse, 2004). Looking at negative emotions are just as useful -or perhaps rather necessary - as positive emotions. As Ng (2017) highlights,

"Negative emotions have adaptive significance, and often have other utilitarian benefits in certain contexts. Preferences for, and experiences of, useful emotions, improve well-being, regardless of whether the emotions are pleasant or unpleasant in valence." (p. 1567).

This might seem counterintuitive, since the common consensus seems to be that negative emotions are bad. No one wishes to suffer from anxiety or to feel so weighed down by their sadness, that they hardly can get out of bed in the morning. Not only that, but studies show that people with a lower quality of life -hereby included happiness- are more prone to have bad health and die earlier (Nesse, 2019, p. 64). Nevertheless, from an evolutionary standpoint it can be argued, that those very negative emotions we always seek to either avoid or rid ourselves of, serve a purpose. But why?

Negative Feelings

Indeed, how can negative emotions be beneficial? According to Nesse (1998) anxiety, stress, social pain - all these feelings serve a purpose and are to a certain extent normal, even desirable. How useful or harmful an emotion is, depends entirely on the situation in which it arises (Nesse, 2004). Being in a relaxed and unbothered state is nice and desirable, unless a wild animal is approaching us, and we'd ought to react to the new threat. Having no capacity for fear can be dangerous, yes lifethreatening even. Yet there seemingly also are situations where panic seems useless. What purpose then could it possibly have to experience a panic attack in a crowd of other people? Or when having to stand in front of ones class and present a project? Here it is, as Nesse (2015) points out, crucial to recognize that not all emotions or affect states are useful and that there's a mismatch between our mind and our modern environment, as well as the fact that our emotions didn't evolve to benefit us but our genes (Nesse, 2015). Put into other words, the problem is not necessarily the bad feeling, but the situation itself. To condemn negative emotions as such, would be to undervalue that though they might be useless or perceived as too overwhelming, they're also quite normal.

Nesse (2019, pp. 67-83) proposes the smoke detector principle to explain these normal but often unnecessary instances of negative emotions, such as anxiety. Natural selection, as stated previously, didn't shape our emotions or the systems to regulate them to benefit us and our happiness, but rather to increase our fitness and selective advantages — ergo, they're expressed whenever it's worth it (Nesse, 2015; Nesse, 1998; Nesse, 2019, pp. 67-83). The panic we feel when being faced with a dangerous animal is worth it, compared to the potentially fatal outcome should we panic and our flight or fight responses kick in. When startled awake at night by some noise, most times the situation will turn out to be harmless — perhaps it's the wind outside rattling the windows, perhaps it's the cat jumping down from a counter. However, there is a slight chance that it could be an intruder and, in that case, wouldn't it be better to be alerted? So instead of viewing anxiety as a disease, an evolutionary perspective allows for anxiety to instead be understood as one of the body's protective mechanisms (Nesse, 2019, pp. 67-83). Building upon that, we must also recognize that, firstly neither our bodies nor minds are without 'design flaws', and that secondly, our environment is much safer now than it was when we first

evolved (Nesse, 2004; Nesse, 2015; Murphy & Stich, 1998). Depression can have many causes. We typically see it following major life changing events, such as the loss of a loved one. Here Nesse (1998, p. 402) highlights, "*a general explanation is that after a loss, a special state can prevent further similar losses and can motivate reassessment of adaptive strategies in the light of the loss*". But depression can also follow the loss of social status, humiliation or not being able to attain a goal. In most of these cases, it makes sense for the body and mind's defense mechanisms to step in and safe the individual energy, when all the available options to deal with the situation have more costs than benefits (Nesse, 1998).

Whereas in medicine, doctors distinct between symptoms and diseases, between normal and abnormal functioning, traditionally both psychiatry and psychology have neglected to address the normal functioning of our feelings and thoughts (Nesse, 2019, p. 27). Yet realizing that negative emotions are useful, shifts the search for causes from solely looking for brain abnormalities to instead also regarding the regulation of emotions, as well as evaluating the numerous evolutionary reasons behind their – at times - excessiveness (Nesse, 2019, p. 27; Nesse, 1998; Nesse, 1984).

Since most mental disorders, are emotional disorders of some kind, Nesse (1998) advices, that we ought not to automatically assume a disorder until we know the situation which has led to the emotions and understand how they're regulated. He furthermore argues that what is classified as normal vs. abnormal emotions, shouldn't depend on what feels good or bad or in other words – what is perceived as negative or positive emotions (Nesse, 1998). Negative emotions can be as valuable as positive emotions and positive emotions as harmful as negative emotions, considering the circumstances (Nesse, 2019, pp. 46-48). Thus far, there's still a lack of research on the excessive positive emotions and its consequences sadly has not been studied or even acknowledged enough, which perhaps is quite understandable, seeing as people typically do not seek help for their lack of anxiety or low mood (Nesse, 2019, p. 6). Yet studies suggest that people that lack anxiety typically show greater potential for taking risks and getting injured, while people that are born without the ability to experience physical pain often die earlier.

Conclusion

Albeit increasing rates of mental illnesses have, both in research and in the public, been widely noted and acknowledged in the past few decades and usually (Western) social and cultural changes are pointed out as the cause, the scientific field of psychology seems to be divided in regard how to best analyse and comprehend the problem (Richter et al., 2008; Murphy & Stich, 1998). Furthermore, as this project has attempted to illuminate, the popularisation of positive approaches toward understanding mental health and the human mind, carries potentially harmful notions, which might be the very reason our stress nowadays seems all the more encompassing and our sadness feels "sadder" than it used to in the past.

Confusing mental or emotional health with happiness and well-being, misunderstands negative emotions, as well as stress and pain as inevitable pathological, although it is - as suggested in part two of this project - normal to feel sad, hopeless, demotivated and even depressed at times (Carlisle et al., 2009). Williams (2000) argues that we, largely due to the happiness culture we have illuminated in part one of this project, are witnessing an upsurge of tribulations which, although they do not call for a diagnosis, are nowadays viewed as mental illnesses in need of remediation. Horwitz and Wakefield (2007) furthermore suggest that the observed increase of depression within people not arises from a true spike of mental illness but is a result of normal sadness being pathologized in recent years.

A naturalistic approach, as tentatively proposed in this project, instead suggests that the human mind or mental health is not perfectly designed machine which we can analyse with a simple manual or small, neat models— we are, our emotions are, and the evolution of our psyche has been, complex (Nesse, 1998; Nesse et al., 2009; Ng, 2017; Nesse, 2019, p. 51). Even feelings such as jealousy and envy, emotions that often are perceived as bad as well, have and do benefit our genes (Nesse, 2019, 65; Nesse, 1990). Furthermore, as elucidated in part two of the project, research indicates that stress and pain systems not only have numerous physical and psychological effects, but additionally since being two of the oldest systems that emerged in our evolution, forego and intersperse various newer systems and mechanisms of the human psyche (Anderson, 2010; Anderson & Penner-Wilger, 2013; Anderson et al., 2013; Eisenberger, 2012; Eisenberger et al., 2003). In summa, just as we cannot avoid our need for food and water, we also can't avoid having "negative" feelings from time to time and they, as the herein included research proposes, are not only normal but in some instances indeed necessary.

Often it appears all too easy to forget that emotions do not exist in a vacuum, that general happiness or mental well-being is not necessarily threatened by spells of sadness or grief, and that instead they very well can co-exist. We can be happy and terribly sad at the same time and sometimes our sadness makes happiness even greater - think nostalgia. We can easily miss old times and be sad that these times are over, but grateful and happy that we have made the very experiences we now miss. The word "bittersweet" should be an oxymoron, but most people probably know the feeling that something feels bittersweet. The same goes for love that hurts, simply because it is so overwhelming. Or for an emptiness that fills everything in a person, even though the idea of feeling nothing and feeling too much of nothing, again is an oxymoron and seems terribly ironic. It could also be argued that not all of us are meant to walk the same paths in life, there is not one right way to be, feel or think. You can't make a giraffe out of a penguin - but why should we? The penguin can do things the giraffe can't and vice versa, yet both have their own unique abilities and purposes. The same could be said to apply to humans, as well as to emotions.

Nesse (2019, pp. 4-7) points out his anxiety patients often felt weak or flawed when he sympathized with them for having a disease, but that, when he began explaining how anxiety, in actuality, is a useful response, which was developed throughout our evolution to protect us, and which just happens to go overboard from time to time, his patients reported to instead feel empowered through having their feelings normalized. Helping patients understand the functions of their emotions and mechanisms behind their mental illnesses, instead of presenting them as personal flaws and such, might thus be the key in helping patients accept and better cope with their tribulations.

The project on hand aimed to tentatively frame a more naturalistic approach to how we can comprehend the human psyche and mental health, precisely to illuminate not only the need of the selfsame, but also what it can offer. However, it has only scratched the surface of the available body of empirical research and theories within the scientific field of psychology that can add to formulate a naturalistic approach more fitting to encompass all facets of the human mind and mental health, without assigning valence to its many different parts. Hence further research and analyses, as well as discussions about its possible clinical application, will be needed in order to, as Nesse (2019) was quoted in the introduction of the paper, "*be able to see the whole landscape of mental illness*" (p. 7). Or at least to provide the, with the hitherto available evidence, most realistic and naturalistic comprehension.

References

- Aisenberg, D., & Henik, A. (2010). Reuse or re-function?. Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 33(4), 266.
- Almeida, D. M., Charles, S. T., Mogle, J., Drewelies, J., Aldwin, C. M., Spiro, A. III, & Gerstorf, D. (2020). Charting adult development through (historically changing) daily stress processes. American Psychologist, 75(4), 511–524.
- Anderson M. L. (2010). Neural reuse: a fundamental organizational principle of the brain. The Behavioral and brain sciences, 33(4), 245–313. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X10000853
- Anderson, M. L., & Penner-Wilger, M. (2013). Neural reuse in the evolution and development of the brain: evidence for developmental homology?. *Developmental psychobiology*, 55(1), 42–51. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.21055
- Anderson, M. L., Kinnison, J., & Pessoa, L. (2013). Describing functional diversity of brain regions and brain networks. *Neuroimage*, *73*, 50-58.
- Baldursson, E. B. (2012). Social smerte i det moderne arbejdsliv ud fra et arbejdspsykologisk perspektiv. *Tidsskrift for Forskning i Sygdom Og Samfund*, 9(16)10.7146/tfss.v9i16.6998
- Baldursson, E. B. (2020). Evolutionær realisme som perspektiv. In E. B.
 Baldursson (Ed.), *Metodernes praksis. Bind II: Realistisk Metode i Psykologien* (Vol. Bind II, pp. 93-112). Aalborg Universitetsforlag.
- Baldursson, E. B., Pedersen, B. T., & Carlsen, P. (2013) Brikker til en evolutionær neurosocial teori om stress. *Psyke & Logos* 34(2)
- Bandura, A. (2008). An agentic perspective on positive psychology. In S. J. Lopez (Ed.), *Positive psychology: Exploring the best in people, Vol. 1. Discovering human strengths* (pp. 167–196). Praeger Publishers/Greenwood Publishing Group.
- Binkley, S. (2011). Happiness, positive psychology and the program of neoliberal governmentality. *Critical Psychology (Lawrence & amp; Wishart)*, 4(4), 371-394. 10.1057/sub.2011.16

- Burks, A. W. (1946). Peirce's theory of abduction. *Philosophy of science*, *13*(4), 301-306.
- Busfield, J. (2012). Challenging claims that mental illness has been increasing and mental well-being declining. Social Science & amp; Medicine, 75(3), 581–588. Elsevier BV. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.02.053
- Cabanas, E. (2018). Positive psychology and the legitimation of individualism. *Theory & Psychology*, 28(1), 3-19.
- Cabanas, E., & Sánchez-González, J. C. (2016). Inverting the pyramid of needs: Positive psychology's new order for labor success. *Psicothema*, 28(2), 107–113. https://doi.org/10.7334/psicothema2015.267
- Campbell-Sills, L., Barlow, D. H., Brown, T. A., & Hofmann, S. G. (2006). Acceptability and suppression of negative emotion in anxiety and mood disorders. *Emotion*, 6(4), 587.
- Carlisle, S., Henderson, G., & Hanlon, P. W. (2009). 'Wellbeing': A collateral casualty of modernity?. *Social science & medicine*, 69(10), 1556-1560.
- Charles, S. T., Piazza, J. R., Mogle, J., Sliwinski, M. J., & Almeida, D. M. (2013). The Wear and Tear of Daily Stressors on Mental Health. Psychological Science, 24(5), 733–741. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797612462222
- Christopher, J. C., & Hickinbottom, S. (2008). Positive psychology, ethnocentrism, and the disguised ideology of individualism. *Theory & psychology*, *18*(5), 563-589.
- Christopher, J. C., Richardson, F. C., & Slife, B. D. (2008). Thinking through positive psychology. *Theory & Psychology*, 18(5), 555–561. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0959354308093395</u>
- Collishaw, S., Maughan, B., Goodman, R., & Pickles, A. (2004). Time trends in adolescent mental health. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 45(8), 1350–1362. Wiley. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00335.x
- Cooper, C. L., & Dewe, P. (2004). Stress: A brief history. Blackwell Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470774755</u>

- Cosmides, L. (1989). The logic of social exchange: Has natural selection shaped how humans reason? Studies with the Wason selection task. *Cognition*, *31*(3), 187–276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0277(89)90023-1</u>
- Coyne, J. C., & Tennen, H. (2010). Positive psychology in cancer care: Bad science, exaggerated claims, and unproven medicine. *Annals of behavioral medicine*, *39*(1), 16-26.
- Cruse, H. (2003). The evolution of cognition--a hypothesis. *Cognitive* Science, 27(1), 135–155. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0364-0213(02)00110-6</u>
- Dillard, J. P., Yang, C., & Li, R. (2018). Self-regulation of emotional responses to Zika: Spiral of fear. *PloS one*, *13*(7), e0199828.
- Duckworth, A. L., Steen, T. A., & Seligman, M. E. (2005). Positive psychology in clinical practice. *Annual review of clinical psychology*, *1*, 629– 651. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.1.102803.144154
- Eisenberger, N. I. (2011). Why Rejection Hurts: What Social Neuroscience Has Revealed About the Brain's Response to Social Rejection. *The Oxford Handbook of Social Neuroscience* (). Oxford University Press. 10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195342161.013.0039
- Eisenberger, N. I. (2012a). Broken Hearts and Broken Bones: A Neural Perspective on the Similarities Between Social and Physical Pain. *Current Directions in Psychological Science : A Journal of the American Psychological Society, 21*(1), 42-47. 10.1177/0963721411429455
- Eisenberger, N. I. (2012b). The neural bases of social pain: Evidence for shared representations with physical pain. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 74(2), 126-135. 10.1097/PSY.0b013e3182464dd1
- Eisenberger, N. I., Lieberman, M. D., & Williams, K. D. (2003). Does rejection hurt? An fMRI study of social exclusion. *Science*, *302*(5643), 290-292.
- Ellard, K. K., Barlow, D. H., Whitfield-Gabrieli, S., Gabrieli, J. D. E., & Deckersbach, T. (2017). Neural correlates of emotion acceptance vs worry or suppression in generalized anxiety disorder. Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience, 12(6), 1009-1021. 10.1093/scan/nsx025

- Eronen, M. I., & Bringmann, L. F. (2021). The Theory Crisis in Psychology: How to Move Forward. Perspectives on Psychological Science, 16(4), 779– 788. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691620970586</u>
- Fernández-Ríos, L., & Novo, M. (2012). Positive psychology: Zeigeist (or spirit of the times) or ignorance (or disinformation) of history? *International Journal of Clinical and Health Psychology*, *12*(2), 333–344.
- Fernández-Ríos, L., & Vázquez, M. V. (2018). History, research, and discourse of positive psychology: A critical approach. *Terapia Psicológica*, 36(2), 123–133. <u>https://doi.org/10.4067/S0718-48082018000200123</u>
- Ford, B. Q., Lam, P., John, O. P., & Mauss, I. B. (2018). The Psychological Health Benefits of Accepting Negative Emotions and Thoughts: Laboratory, Diary, and Longitudinal Evidence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *115*(6), 1075-1092. 10.1037/pspp0000157
- Ford, B., & Mauss, I. (2014). The paradoxical effects of pursuing positive emotion. *Positive emotion: Integrating the light sides and dark sides*, 363-382.
- Frawley, A. (2015). Happiness Research: A Review of Critiques. *Sociology Compass*, *9*(1), 62-77. 10.1111/soc4.12236
- Ganzel, B. L., Morris, P. A., & Wethington, E. (2010). Allostasis and the human brain: Integrating models of stress from the social and life sciences. Psychological Review, 117(1), 134–174. American Psychological Association (APA). Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0017773</u>
- Glenberg, A. M. & Kaschak, M. P. (2002) Grounding language in action. Psychonomic Bulletin and Review 9:558–65. [arMLA, BB]
- Goldstein, D. S., & Kopin, I. J. (2007). Evolution of concepts of stress. Stress, 10(2), 109–120. Informa UK Limited. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10253890701288935</u>
- Gould, S. J. (1991). Exaptation: A crucial tool for an evolutionary psychology. *Journal of social issues*, 47(3), 43-65.
- Gross, J. J., & Levenson, R. W. (1997). Hiding feelings: The acute effects of inhibiting negative and positive emotion. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *106*(1), 95–103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.106.1.95</u>

- Hanschek, M. (2012). Neurophysiologische Aspekte der Stressphysiologie bei Süchtigen und gesunden Kontrollen. [Doctoral dissertation, Graz University] Medizinische Universität Graz: Medonline.
- Held, B. S. (2002). The tyranny of the positive attitude in America: Observation and speculation. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 4(4), 965-991. 10.1002/jclp.10093
- Hibberd, F. J., & Gozli, D. G. (2017). Psychology's fragmentation and neglect of foundational assumptions: An interview with Fiona J. Hibberd. Europe's Journal of Psychology, 13(2), 366–374. Leibniz Institute for Psychology (ZPID). Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5964/ejop.v13i2.1403</u>
- Hidaka, B. H. (2012). Depression as a disease of modernity: Explanations for increasing prevalence. Journal of Affective Disorders, 140(3), 205–214. Elsevier BV. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2011.12.036
- Horwitz, A. V., & Wakefield, J. C. (2007). *The loss of sadness: How psychiatry transformed normal sorrow into depressive disorder*. Oxford University Press.
- Horwitz, A., & Wakefield, J. C. (2005). The age of depression. *Public Interest*, 158, 39–58. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000597
- Immordino-Yang, M., Chiao, J., & Fiske, A. (2010). Neural reuse in the social and emotional brain. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 33(4), 275-276. doi:10.1017/S0140525X10001020
- Is Mental Illness on The Rise? (2021, August 18). Mental Health Program at Banyan Treatment Centers. Retrieved May 17, 2022, from <u>https://www.banyanmentalhealth.com/2021/07/01/rise-in-mental-illness/</u>
- Jackson, M. (2014). Evaluating the Role of Hans Selye in the Modern History of Stress. In D. Cantor (Eds.) et. al., Stress, Shock, and Adaptation in the Twentieth Century. University of Rochester Press.
- Jowit, J. (2018, November 10). What is depression and why is it rising? The Guardian. Retrieved May 17, 2022, from <u>https://www.theguardian.com/news/2018/jun/04/what-is-depression-and-</u> <u>why-is-it-rising</u>

- Kelly, J. (2022, April 14). Global Emotions Survey Shows Record High Levels Of People 'Feeling Stressed, Sad, Angry And Worried.' Forbes. Retrieved May 17, 2022, from https://www.forbes.com/sites/jackkelly/2021/07/31/global-emotions-surveyshows-record-high-levels-of-people-feeling-stressed-sad-angry-andworried/?sh=6782f26e6963
- Lazarus, R. S. (1974). Psychological stress and coping in adaptation and illness. *The International journal of psychiatry in medicine*, *5*(4), 321-333.
- Lazarus, R. S. (1993). From psychological stress to the emotions: A history of changing outlooks. *Annual review of psychology*, 44(1), 1-22.
- Lazarus, R. S. (2003). Does the positive psychology movement have legs?. *Psychological inquiry*, *14*(2), 93-109.
- LeDoux, J. (2012). Rethinking the Emotional Brain. Neuron, 73(4), 653–676.
 Elsevier BV. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.02.004</u>
- Levitt, J. T., Brown, T. A., Orsillo, S. M., & Barlow, D. H. (2004). The effects of acceptance versus suppression of emotion on subjective and psychophysiological response to carbon dioxide challenge in patients with panic disorder. Elsevier BV. 10.1016/s0005-7894(04)80018-2
- Linley, A.P., Harrington, J.S, & Wood, A. M. (2006). Positive psychology: Past, present, and (possible) future. The Journal of Positive Psychology, 1(1), 3–16. Informa UK Limited. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17439760500372796</u>
- Lomas, T. (2018). The quiet virtues of sadness: A selective theoretical and interpretative appreciation of its potential contribution to wellbeing. *New Ideas in Psychology, 49,* 18-26. 10.1016/j.newideapsych.2018.01.002
- Lu, S., Wei, F., & Li, G. (2021). The evolution of the concept of stress and the framework of the stress system. *Cell stress*, *5*(6), 76.
- MacDonald, G., & Leary, M. R. (2005). Why Does Social Exclusion Hurt? The Relationship Between Social and Physical Pain. *Psychological Bulletin*, *131*(2), 202-223. 10.1037/0033-2909.131.2.202
- Mason, J. W. (1971). A re-evaluation of the concept of 'non-specificity'in stress theory. Journal of Psychiatric Research, 8(3), 323-333.

- Mastroianni, B. (2020, May 17). Why Americans Are More Stressed Today Than They Were in the 1990s. *Healthline*. Retrieved May 17, 2022, from <u>https://www.healthline.com/health-news/people-more-stressed-today-than-1990s</u>
- McEwen B. S. (2002). Sex, stress and the hippocampus: allostasis, allostatic load and the aging process. *Neurobiology of aging*, 23(5), 921–939. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0197-4580(02)00027-1</u>
- McEwen, B.S. (1998). Stress, Adaptation, and Disease: Allostasis and Allostatic Load. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 840(1), 33–44. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1998.tb09546.x
- Meduri, G. U., & Chrousos, G. P. (2020). General Adaptation in Critical Illness: Glucocorticoid Receptor-alpha Master Regulator of Homeostatic Corrections. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 11. Frontiers Media SA. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2020.00161</u>
- Murphy, D., & Stich, S. (1998). Darwin in the madhouse: Evolutionary psychology and the classification of mental disorders (unpublished manuscript).
- Nesse, R. (1998). Emotional disorders in evolutionary perspective. *British Journal of Medical Psychology*, *71*(4), 397-415.
- Nesse, R. M. (1990). Evolutionary explanations of emotions. *Human nature* (*Hawthorne*, *N.Y.*), *1*(3), 261-289. 10.1007/BF02733986
- Nesse, R. M. (2004). Natural selection and the elusiveness of happiness. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 359(1449), 1333-1347.
- Nesse, R. M. (2015). Evolutionary Psychology and Mental Health. In D. M. Buss (Ed.), The Handbook of Evolutionary Psychology (pp. 903–927). Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470939376.ch32
- Nesse, R. M. (2019). *Good reasons for bad feelings: insights from the frontier of evolutionary psychiatry*. Penguin.
- Nesse, R. M., Nutt, D., & Wolpert, L. (2009). *Understanding depression: a translational approach*. Oxford University Press.

- Ng, W. (2017). Extending traditional psychological disciplines to positive psychology: A view from subjective well-being. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *18*(5), 1553-1571.
- Parker, G., Cheah, Y. C. & Roy, K. (2001) Do the Chinese somatize depression?: A cross-cultural study. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology 36:287–93. [MHI-
- Pérez-Álvarez, M. (2016). The Science of Happiness: As Felicitous as It Is Fallacious. *Journal of Theoretical and Philosophical Psychology*, *36*(1), 1-19. 10.1037/teo0000030
- Ramsay, D. S., & Woods, S. C. (2014). Clarifying the Roles of Homeostasis and Allostasis in Physiological Regulation. *Psychological Review*, *121*(2), 225-247. 10.1037/a0035942
- Richter, D., Berger, K., & Reker, T. (2008). Nehmen psychische Störungen zu? Eine systematische Literaturübersicht [Are mental disorders on the increase? A systematic review]. *Psychiatrische Praxis*, 35(7), 321–330. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2008-1067570
- Rossi, M. (2012). Normativity and Normative Psychology: Introduction. In *Les ateliers de l'éthique/The Ethics Forum* (Vol. 7, No. 1, pp. 141-145). Centre de recherche en éthique de l'Université de Montréal.
- Schulz, K. H. (2009). Zur Bedeutung chronischer Belastung und sozialer Unterstützung für die Entwicklung körperlicher Erkrankungen. Volkskrankheiten. Gesundheitliche Herausforderungen in der Wohlstandsgesellschaft. Herder, Freiburg, 527-552.
- Sinclair, E., Hart, R., & Lomas, T. (2020). Can positivity be counterproductive when suffering domestic abuse?: A narrative review. *International Journal of Wellbeing*, *10*(1), 26-53. 10.5502/ijw.v10i1.754
- Slife, B. D., & Richardson, F. C. (2008). Problematic Ontological Underpinnings of Positive Psychology. *Theory & Comp. Psychology*, 18(5), 699-723. 10.1177/0959354308093403
- Sterling, P., & Eyer, J. (1988). Allostasis: A new paradigm to explain arousal pathology. In S. Fisher, & J. Reason (Eds.), *Handbook of life stress, cognition and health* (pp. 629-649). New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Twenge, J. M. (2004, October 2). Why So Many People Are Stressed and Depressed. Psychology Today. Retrieved May 17, 2022, from

https://www.psychologytoday.com/intl/blog/our-changingculture/201410/why-so-many-people-are-stressed-and-depressed

- Vitti Rodrigues, M., & Emmeche, C. (2021). Abduction and styles of scientific thinking. *Synthese*, *198*(2), 1397-1425
- Ward, T., Clack, S., & Haig, B. D. (2016). The abductive theory of method: Scientific inquiry and clinical practice. *Behaviour Change*, *33*(4), 212-231.
- Williams, N. (2021, December 1) Are Mental Health Issues Increasing? News-Medical.Net. Retrieved May 17, 2022, from <u>https://www.news-medical.net/health/Are-Mental-Health-Issues-Increasing.aspx</u>
- Williams, S. J. (2000). Reason, emotion and embodiment: is 'mental' health a contradiction in terms? Sociology of Health & Illness, 22, 559–581.
- Wilson, M. (2001) The case for sensorimotor coding in working memory. *Psychonomic Bulletin and Review* 8:44–57. [aMLA]
- Wirtz, P. H., Ehlert, U., Kottwitz, M. U., La Marca, R., & Semmer, N. K. (2013). Occupational Role Stress is Associated With Higher Cortisol Reactivity to Acute Stress. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *18*(2), 121-131. 10.1037/a0031802
- Wittchen, H. U., Jacobi, F., Rehm, J., Gustavsson, A., Svensson, M., Jönsson, B., Olesen, J., Allgulander, C., Alonso, J., Faravelli, C., Fratiglioni, L., Jennum, P., Lieb, R., Maercker, A., van Os, J., Preisig, M., Salvador-Carulla, L., Simon, R., & Steinhausen, H. C. (2011). The size and burden of mental disorders and other disorders of the brain in Europe 2010. *European neuropsychopharmacology : the journal of the European College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 21(9), 655–679. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2011.07.018

Pensumopgørelse

- Aisenberg, D., & Henik, A. (2010). Reuse or re-function?. Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 33(4), 266.
- Almeida, D. M., Charles, S. T., Mogle, J., Drewelies, J., Aldwin, C. M., Spiro, A. III, & Gerstorf, D. (2020). Charting adult development through

(historically changing) daily stress processes. American Psychologist, 75(4), 511–524.

- Anderson M. L. (2010). Neural reuse: a fundamental organizational principle of the brain. The Behavioral and brain sciences, 33(4), 245–313. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X10000853
- Anderson, M. L., & Penner-Wilger, M. (2013). Neural reuse in the evolution and development of the brain: evidence for developmental homology?. *Developmental psychobiology*, 55(1), 42–51. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.21055
- Anderson, M. L., Kinnison, J., & Pessoa, L. (2013). Describing functional diversity of brain regions and brain networks. *Neuroimage*, *73*, 50-58.
- APA Member Services. (2021, January 11). Top ten trends in psychology for 2021. American Psychological Association. https://www.apa.org/members/content/2021-ten-trends
- Bacon, S. F. (2005). Positive Psychology's Two Cultures. Review of General Psychology, 9(2), 181–192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.9.2.181</u>
- Baldursson, E. B. (2012). Social smerte i det moderne arbejdsliv ud fra et arbejdspsykologisk perspektiv. *Tidsskrift for Forskning i Sygdom Og Samfund*, 9(16)10.7146/tfss.v9i16.6998
- Baldursson, E. B. (2020). Evolutionær realisme som perspektiv. In E. B. Baldursson (Ed.), *Metodernes praksis. Bind II: Realistisk Metode i Psykologien* (Vol. Bind II, pp. 93-112). Aalborg Universitetsforlag.
- Baldursson, E. B., Pedersen, B. T., & Carlsen, P. (2013) Brikker til en evolutionær neurosocial teori om stress. *Psyke & Logos* 34(2)
- Balietti, S., Mäs, M., & Helbing, D. (2015). On Disciplinary Fragmentation and Scientific Progress. (D. Fanelli, Ed.)PLOS ONE, 10(3), e0118747. Public Library of Science (PLoS). Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0118747</u>
- Bandura, A. (2008). An agentic perspective on positive psychology. In S. J. Lopez (Ed.), *Positive psychology: Exploring the best in people, Vol. 1. Discovering human strengths* (pp. 167–196). Praeger Publishers/Greenwood Publishing Group.
- Barrett, L. F., Quigley, K. S., & Hamilton, P. (2016). An active inference theory of allostasis and interoception in depression. Philosophical

Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 371(1708), 20160011. The Royal Society. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2016.0011</u>

- Baumeister, R. F., & Leary, M. R. (2007). The Need to Belong: Desire for Interpersonal Attachments as a Fundamental Human Motivation. *Interpersonal Development* (1st ed., pp. 57-89). Routledge. 10.4324/9781351153683-3
- Becker, D. (2013) *One nation under stress: the trouble with stress as an idea*. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- Becker, D., & Marecek, J. (2008). Dreaming the American Dream: Individualism and Positive Psychology. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 2(5), 1767–1780. Wiley. Retrieved from Portico.
- Beste, C. (2021). Disconnected psychology and neuroscience—implications for scientific progress, replicability and the role of publishing. Communications Biology, 4(1). Springer Science and Business Media LLC. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s42003-021-02634-9</u>
- Binkley, S. (2011). Happiness, positive psychology and the program of neoliberal governmentality. *Critical Psychology (Lawrence & amp; Wishart)*, 4(4), 371-394. 10.1057/sub.2011.16
- Bloomfield, P. (2021). Naturalistic Moral Realism and Evolutionary Biology. *Philosophies (Basel)*, 7(1), 2. 10.3390/philosophies7010002
- Blynova, O., Kostenko, T., Nesin, Y., Fedorova, O., Chaban, O., Pyslar, A., & Popovych, I. (2021). Research of the Relationship Between Perfectionism and Feelings of Loneliness of Youths. *Postmodern Openings*, *12*(2)10.18662/po/12.2/294
- Brenner, S. L., Jones, J. P., Rutanen-Whaley, R. H., Parker, W., Flinn, M. V., & Muehlenbein, M. P. (2015). Evolutionary Mismatch and Chronic Psychological Stress. Journal of Evolutionary Medicine, 3, 1–11. Ashdin Publishing. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4303/jem/235885</u>
- Brinkmann S. (2011). Towards an expansive hybrid psychology: integrating theories of the mediated mind. *Integrative psychological & behavioral science*, 45(1), 1–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12124-010-9146-3</u> (20pages)
- Brown, S. L., Nesse, R. M., House, J. S., & Utz, R. L. (2004). Religion and Emotional Compensation: Results from a Prospective Study of

Widowhood. *Personality & amp; Social Psychology Bulletin, 30*(9), 1165-1174. 10.1177/0146167204263752

- Burks, A. W. (1946). Peirce's theory of abduction. *Philosophy of science*, *13*(4), 301-306.
- Busfield, J. (2012). Challenging claims that mental illness has been increasing and mental well-being declining. Social Science & amp; Medicine, 75(3), 581–588. Elsevier BV. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.02.053
- Cabanas, E. (2018). Positive psychology and the legitimation of individualism. *Theory & Psychology*, 28(1), 3-19.
- Cabanas, E., & Sánchez-González, J. C. (2016). Inverting the pyramid of needs: Positive psychology's new order for labor success. *Psicothema*, 28(2), 107–113. https://doi.org/10.7334/psicothema2015.267
- Cabanas, E., & Sánchez-González, J.-C. (2016). Inverting the pyramid of needs: Positive psychology's new order for labor success. Psicothema, (28.2), 107–113. ES: C.O.P. del Ppdo. de Asturias. Retrieved from <u>https://doi.org/10.7334/psicothema2015.267</u>
- Camilo, U., & Cela, J. (2018). *Positive Psychology and the legitimation of individualism Edgar Cabanas*
- Campbell-Sills, L., Barlow, D. H., Brown, T. A., & Hofmann, S. G. (2006). Acceptability and Suppression of Negative Emotion in Anxiety and Mood Disorders. *Emotion (Washington, D.C.)*, 6(4), 587-595. 10.1037/1528-3542.6.4.587
- Carlisle, S., Henderson, G., & Hanlon, P. W. (2009). 'Wellbeing': A collateral casualty of modernity?. *Social science & medicine*, 69(10), 1556-1560.
- Charles, S. T., Piazza, J. R., Mogle, J., Sliwinski, M. J., & Almeida, D. M. (2013). The Wear and Tear of Daily Stressors on Mental Health. Psychological Science, 24(5), 733–741. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797612462222
- Christopher, J. C., & Hickinbottom, S. (2008). Positive Psychology, Ethnocentrism, and the Disguised Ideology of Individualism. *Theory & Psychology*, 18(5), 563–589. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0959354308093396</u>

- Christopher, J. C., Richardson, F. C., & Slife, B. D. (2008). Thinking through positive psychology. *Theory & Psychology*, 18(5), 555–561. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0959354308093395</u>
- Cilliers, F., & May, M. (2010). The popularisation of Positive Psychology as a defence against behavioural complexity in research and organisations. SA Journal of Industrial Psychology, 36(2). AOSIS. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4102/sajip.v36i2.917</u>
- Collishaw, S., Maughan, B., Goodman, R., & Pickles, A. (2004). Time trends in adolescent mental health. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 45(8), 1350–1362. Wiley. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00335.x
- Cooper, C. L., & Dewe, P. (2004). *Stress: A brief history*. Blackwell Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470774755</u>
- Cosmides, L. (1989). The logic of social exchange: Has natural selection shaped how humans reason? Studies with the Wason selection task. *Cognition*, *31*(3), 187–276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0277(89)90023-1</u>
- Coyne, J. C., & Tennen, H. (2010). Positive Psychology in Cancer Care: Bad Science, Exaggerated Claims, and Unproven Medicine. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 39(1), 16-26. 10.1007/s12160-009-9154-z
- Cruse, H. (2003). The evolution of cognition--a hypothesis. *Cognitive* Science, 27(1), 135–155. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0364-0213(02)00110-6</u>
- Del Giudice, M., Ellis, B. J., & Shirtcliff, E. A. (2013). Making sense of stress: An evolutionary—Developmental framework. In G. Laviola & S. Macrì (Eds.), *Adaptive and maladaptive aspects of developmental stress* (pp. 23–43). Springer Science + Business Media. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-5605-6_2</u>
- Dillard, J. P., Yang, C., & Li, R. (2018). Self-regulation of emotional responses to Zika: Spiral of fear. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(7), e0199828.
 10.1371/journal.pone.0199828
- Donatelli, P. (2019). Moral Perfectionism and Virtue. *Critical Inquiry*, 45(2), 332-350. 10.1086/700966

- Duckworth, A. L., Steen, T. A., & Seligman, M. E. (2005). Positive psychology in clinical practice. *Annual review of clinical psychology*, *1*, 629– 651. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.1.102803.144154
- Eisenberger, N. I. (2011). Why Rejection Hurts: What Social Neuroscience Has Revealed About the Brain's Response to Social Rejection. *The Oxford Handbook of Social Neuroscience* (). Oxford University Press. 10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195342161.013.0039
- Eisenberger, N. I. (2012a). Broken Hearts and Broken Bones: A Neural Perspective on the Similarities Between Social and Physical Pain. *Current Directions in Psychological Science : A Journal of the American Psychological Society*, 21(1), 42-47. 10.1177/0963721411429455
- Eisenberger, N. I. (2012b). The neural bases of social pain: Evidence for shared representations with physical pain. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 74(2), 126-135. 10.1097/PSY.0b013e3182464dd1
- Eisenberger, N. I., & Lieberman, M. D. (2004). Why rejection hurts: a common neural alarm system for physical and social pain. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 8(7), 294-300. 10.1016/j.tics.2004.05.010
- Eisenberger, N. I., Lieberman, M. D., & Williams, K. D. (2003). Does rejection hurt? An fMRI study of social exclusion. *Science*, *302*(5643), 290-292.
- Ellard, K. K., Barlow, D. H., Whitfield-Gabrieli, S., Gabrieli, J. D. E., & Deckersbach, T. (2017). Neural correlates of emotion acceptance vs worry or suppression in generalized anxiety disorder. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, *12*(6), 1009-1021. 10.1093/scan/nsx025
- Eronen, M. I., & Bringmann, L. F. (2021). The Theory Crisis in Psychology: How to Move Forward. Perspectives on Psychological Science, 16(4), 779–788. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691620970586</u>
- Fernández-Ríos, L., & Novo, M. (2012). Positive psychology: Zeigeist (or spirit of the times) or ignorance (or disinformation) of history? *International Journal of Clinical and Health Psychology*, *12*(2), 333–344.
- Fernández-Ríos, L., & Vázquez, M. V. (2018). History, research, and discourse of positive psychology: A critical approach. *Terapia Psicológica*, 36(2), 123–133. <u>https://doi.org/10.4067/S0718-48082018000200123</u>

- Ford, B. Q., Lam, P., John, O. P., & Mauss, I. B. (2018). The Psychological Health Benefits of Accepting Negative Emotions and Thoughts: Laboratory, Diary, and Longitudinal Evidence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *115*(6), 1075-1092. 10.1037/pspp0000157
- Ford, B., & Mauss, I. (2014). The paradoxical effects of pursuing positive emotion. *Positive emotion: Integrating the light sides and dark sides*, 363-382.
- Ford, B., Mauss, I. (2014). "The paradoxical effects of pursuing positive emotion," in Positive Emotion: Integrating the Light Sides and Dark Sides, eds J., Gruber, T. Moskowitz, (Oxford: Oxford Scholarship Online), 363-382.
- Forgas, J. P. (2013). Don't Worry, Be Sad! On the Cognitive, Motivational, and Interpersonal Benefits of Negative Mood. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 22(3), 225–232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721412474458</u>
- Frawley, A. (2015). Happiness Research: A Review of Critiques. *Sociology Compass*, *9*(1), 62-77. 10.1111/soc4.12236
- Fredrickson, B. L. (2001). The Role of Positive Emotions in Positive Psychology. *The American Psychologist*, 56(3), 218-226. 10.1037/0003-066X.56.3.218
- Friedman, H. L., & Robbins, B. D. (2012). The negative shadow cast by positive psychology: Contrasting views and implications of humanistic and positive psychology on resiliency. *The Humanistic Psychologist*, 40(1), 87–102. <u>https://doi-org.zorac.aub.aau.dk/10.1080/08873267.2012.643720</u>
- Gable, S. L., & Haidt, J. (2005). What (and Why) Is Positive Psychology? *Review of General Psychology*, 9(2), 103-110. 10.1037/1089-2680.9.2.103
- Ganzel, B. L., Morris, P. A., & Wethington, E. (2010). Allostasis and the human brain: Integrating models of stress from the social and life sciences. Psychological Review, 117(1), 134–174. American Psychological Association (APA). Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0017773
- Glenberg, A. M. & Kaschak, M. P. (2002) Grounding language in action.
 Psychonomic Bulletin and Review 9:558–65. [arMLA, BB]

- Goldstein, D. S., & Kopin, I. J. (2007). Evolution of concepts of stress. Stress, 10(2), 109–120. Informa UK Limited. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10253890701288935</u>
- Gould, S. J. (1991). Exaptation: A crucial tool for an evolutionary psychology. *Journal of social issues*, 47(3), 43-65.
- Gross, J. J., & Levenson, R. W. (1997). Hiding feelings: The acute effects of inhibiting negative and positive emotion. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *106*(1), 95–103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.106.1.95</u>
- Gruber, J. (2011). Can Feeling Too Good Be Bad? Current Directions in Psychological Science, 20(4), 217–221. SAGE Publications. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0963721411414632</u>
- Hadany, L., Beker, T., Eshel, I., & Feldman, M. W. (2005). Why is stress so deadly? An evolutionary perspective. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 273(1588), 881–885. The Royal Society. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2005.3384
- Hanschek, M. (2012). Neurophysiologische Aspekte der Stressphysiologie bei Süchtigen und gesunden Kontrollen. [Doctoral dissertation, Graz University] Medizinische Universität Graz: Medonline.
- Heatherton, T. F. (2010). *Neuroscience of Self and Self-Regulation*. SSRN. 10.1146/annurev.psych.121208.131616
- Held, B. S. (2002). The tyranny of the positive attitude in America: Observation and speculation. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 4(4), 965-991. 10.1002/jclp.10093
- Hewitt, P. L., & Flett, G. L. (1991). Perfectionism in the Self and Social Contexts. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *60*(3), 456-470. 10.1037/0022-3514.60.3.456
- Hibberd, F. J., & Gozli, D. G. (2017). Psychology's fragmentation and neglect of foundational assumptions: An interview with Fiona J. Hibberd. Europe's Journal of Psychology, 13(2), 366–374. Leibniz Institute for Psychology (ZPID). Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.5964/ejop.v13i2.1403
- Hidaka, B. H. (2012). Depression as a disease of modernity: Explanations for increasing prevalence. Journal of Affective Disorders, 140(3), 205–214. Elsevier BV. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2011.12.036

- Hommel, B., & Beste, C. (2021). Towards an Ideology-Free, Truly Mechanistic Health Psychology. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *18*(21), 11126. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph182111126
- Horwitz, A. V., & Wakefield, J. C. (2007). *The loss of sadness: How psychiatry transformed normal sorrow into depressive disorder*. Oxford University Press.
- Horwitz, A., & Wakefield, J. C. (2005). The age of depression. *Public Interest*, 158, 39–58. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000597
- Immordino-Yang, M., Chiao, J., & Fiske, A. (2010). Neural reuse in the social and emotional brain. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 33(4), 275-276. doi:10.1017/S0140525X10001020
- Is Mental Illness on The Rise? (2021, August 18). Mental Health Program at Banyan Treatment Centers. Retrieved May 17, 2022, from <u>https://www.banyanmentalhealth.com/2021/07/01/rise-in-mental-illness/</u>
- Jackson, M. (2014). Evaluating the Role of Hans Selye in the Modern History of Stress. In D. Cantor (Eds.) et. al., Stress, Shock, and Adaptation in the Twentieth Century. University of Rochester Press.
- Jowit, J. (2018, November 10). What is depression and why is it rising? The Guardian. Retrieved May 17, 2022, from <u>https://www.theguardian.com/news/2018/jun/04/what-is-depression-and-</u><u>why-is-it-rising</u>
- Juster, R. P., Russell, J. J., Almeida, D., & Picard, M. (2016). Allostatic load and comorbidities: A mitochondrial, epigenetic, and evolutionary perspective. Development and psychopathology, 28(4pt1), 1117–1146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579416000730</u>
- Kabat-Zinn, J. Mindfulness-Based Interventions in Context: Past, Present, and Future studies from the Center for Mindfulness in Medicine, Health Care, and Society not reviewed by Baer but which raise a number of key questions about clinical appli- cability, study design, and mechanism of action, and (7) current opportunities for professional training and development in mindfulness and its clinical applications10.1093/clipsy/bpg016
- Kashdan, T. B., Barrios, V., Forsyth, J. P., & Steger, M. F. (2006). Experiential avoidance as a generalized psychological vulnerability:

Comparisons with coping and emotion regulation strategies. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *44*(9), 1301-1320. 10.1016/j.brat.2005.10.003

- Kelly, J. (2022, April 14). Global Emotions Survey Shows Record High Levels Of People 'Feeling Stressed, Sad, Angry And Worried.' Forbes. Retrieved May 17, 2022, from https://www.forbes.com/sites/jackkelly/2021/07/31/global-emotions-surveyshows-record-high-levels-of-people-feeling-stressed-sad-angry-andworried/?sh=6782f26e6963
- Lazarus, R. S. (1974). Psychological stress and coping in adaptation and illness. *The International journal of psychiatry in medicine*, *5*(4), 321-333.
- Lazarus, R. S. (1993). From psychological stress to the emotions: A history of changing outlooks. *Annual review of psychology*, 44(1), 1-22.
- Lazarus, R. S. (2003). Does the positive psychology movement have legs?. *Psychological inquiry*, *14*(2), 93-109.
- LeDoux, J. (2012). Rethinking the Emotional Brain. Neuron, 73(4), 653–676.
 Elsevier BV. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.02.004</u>
- Levitt, J. T., Brown, T. A., Orsillo, S. M., & Barlow, D. H. (2004). *The effects of acceptance versus suppression of emotion on subjective and psychophysiological response to carbon dioxide challenge in patients with panic disorder*. Elsevier BV. 10.1016/s0005-7894(04)80018-2
- Linley, A.P., Harrington, J.S, & Wood, A. M. (2006). Positive psychology: Past, present, and (possible) future. The Journal of Positive Psychology, 1(1), 3–16. Informa UK Limited. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17439760500372796
- Lomas, T. (2018). The quiet virtues of sadness: A selective theoretical and interpretative appreciation of its potential contribution to wellbeing. *New Ideas in Psychology, 49,* 18-26. 10.1016/j.newideapsych.2018.01.002
- Lomas, T., & Ivtzan, I. (2015). Second Wave Positive Psychology: Exploring the Positive–Negative Dialectics of Wellbeing. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 17(4), 1753-1768. 10.1007/s10902-015-9668-y
- Lu, S., Wei, F., & Li, G. (2021). The evolution of the concept of stress and the framework of the stress system. *Cell stress*, *5*(6), 76.

- MacDonald, G., & Leary, M. R. (2005). Why Does Social Exclusion Hurt? The Relationship Between Social and Physical Pain. *Psychological Bulletin*, *131*(2), 202-223. 10.1037/0033-2909.131.2.202
- Martínez-Guzmán, A., & Lara, A. (2019). Affective modulation in positive psychology's regime of happiness. *Theory & amp; Psychology, 29*(3), 336-357. 10.1177/0959354319845138
- Mason, J. W. (1971). A re-evaluation of the concept of 'non-specificity'in stress theory. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 8(3), 323-333.
- Mastroianni, B. (2020, May 17). Why Americans Are More Stressed Today Than They Were in the 1990s. *Healthline*. Retrieved May 17, 2022, from <u>https://www.healthline.com/health-news/people-more-stressed-today-than-1990s</u>
- Mastroianni, B. (2020, May 17). Why Americans Are More Stressed Today Than They Were in the 1990s. Healthline. Retrieved May 17, 2022, from <u>https://www.healthline.com/health-news/people-more-stressed-today-than-1990s</u>
- McEwen, B. S. (2002). Sex, stress and the hippocampus: allostasis, allostatic load and the aging process. *Neurobiology of aging*, 23(5), 921–939. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0197-4580(02)00027-1
- McEwen, B.S. (1998). Stress, Adaptation, and Disease: Allostasis and Allostatic Load. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 840(1), 33–44. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1998.tb09546.x
- McNulty, J. K., & Fincham, F. D. (2012). Beyond Positive Psychology? *The American Psychologist*, 67(2), 101-110. 10.1037/a0024572
- Meduri, G. U., & Chrousos, G. P. (2020). General Adaptation in Critical Illness: Glucocorticoid Receptor-alpha Master Regulator of Homeostatic Corrections. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 11. Frontiers Media SA. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2020.00161</u>
- Meyers, M. C., van Woerkom, M., & Bakker, A. B. (2013). The added value of the positive: A literature review of positive psychology interventions in organizations. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 22(5), 618-632. 10.1080/1359432X.2012.694689

- Murphy, D., & Stich, S. (1998). Darwin in the madhouse: Evolutionary psychology and the classification of mental disorders (unpublished manuscript).
- Nesse, R. (1998). Emotional disorders in evolutionary perspective. *British Journal of Medical Psychology*, *71*(4), 397-415. 10.1111/j.2044-8341.1998.tb01000.x
- Nesse, R. M. (1990). Evolutionary explanations of emotions. *Human Nature* (*Hawthorne, N.Y.*), *1*(3), 261-289. 10.1007/BF02733986
- Nesse, R. M. (1991). WHAT GOOD IS FEELING BAD? *The Sciences (New York)*, *31*(6), 30-37. 10.1002/j.2326-1951.1991.tb02346.x
- Nesse, R. M. (2001). The Smoke Detector Principle. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *935*(1), 75-85. 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2001.tb03472.x
- Nesse, R. M. (2004). Natural selection and the elusiveness of happiness. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 359(1449), 1333-1347.
- Nesse, R. M. (2009). Digesting evolution. *Nature*, 460(7254), 461. 10.1038/460461a
- Nesse, R. M. (2015). Evolutionary Psychology and Mental Health. In D. M. Buss (Ed.), The Handbook of Evolutionary Psychology (pp. 903–927). Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470939376.ch32
- Nesse, R. M. (2019). *Good reasons for bad feelings: insights from the frontier of evolutionary psychiatry*. Penguin.
- Nesse, R. M., & Ellsworth, P. C. (2009). Evolution, Emotions, and Emotional Disorders. *The American Psychologist*, 64(2), 129-139. 10.1037/a0013503
- Nesse, R. M., Nutt, D., & Wolpert, L. (2009). *Understanding depression: a translational approach*. Oxford University Press.
- Ng, W. (2017). Extending traditional psychological disciplines to positive psychology: A view from subjective well-being. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *18*(5), 1553-1571.
- Nowak, A., & Vallacher, R. R. (2019). *Nonlinear societal change: The perspective of dynamical systems*. Wiley. 10.1111/bjso.12271

- Oberauer, K., & Lewandowsky, S. (2019). Addressing the theory crisis in psychology. *Psychonomic bulletin & review*, 26(5), 1596–1618. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13423-019-01645-2
- Parker, G., Cheah, Y. C. & Roy, K. (2001) Do the Chinese somatize depression?: A cross-cultural study. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology 36:287–93. [MHI-
- Pérez-Álvarez, M. (2016). The Science of Happiness: As Felicitous as It Is Fallacious. *Journal of Theoretical and Philosophical Psychology*, *36*(1), 1-19. 10.1037/teo0000030
- Pérez-Álvarez, M., & García-Montes, J. M. (2007). The Charcot Effect: The Invention of Mental Illnesses. Journal of Constructivist Psychology, 20(4), 309–336. Informa UK Limited. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10720530701503843</u>
- Peyron, R., Laurent, B., & García-Larrea, L. (2000). Functional imaging of brain responses to pain. A review and meta-analysis (2000). Elsevier BV. 10.1016/s0987-7053(00)00227-6
- Porges, S. W. (2009). The polyvagal theory: New insights into adaptive reactions of the autonomic nervous system. *Cleveland Clinic Journal of Medicine*, 76(Suppl 2), S86-S90. 10.3949/ccjm.76.s2.17
- Ramsay, D. S., & Woods, S. C. (2014). Clarifying the Roles of Homeostasis and Allostasis in Physiological Regulation. *Psychological Review*, *121*(2), 225-247. 10.1037/a0035942
- Richter, D., Berger, K., & Reker, T. (2008). Nehmen psychische Störungen zu? Eine systematische Literaturübersicht [Are mental disorders on the increase? A systematic review]. *Psychiatrische Praxis*, 35(7), 321–330. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2008-1067570
- Rossi, M. (2012). Normativity and Normative Psychology: Introduction. In *Les ateliers de l'éthique/The Ethics Forum* (Vol. 7, No. 1, pp. 141-145). Centre de recherche en éthique de l'Université de Montréal.
- Schulz, K. H. (2009). Zur Bedeutung chronischer Belastung und sozialer Unterstützung für die Entwicklung körperlicher Erkrankungen. Volkskrankheiten. Gesundheitliche Herausforderungen in der Wohlstandsgesellschaft. Herder, Freiburg, 527-552.

- Selye H. (1975). Confusion and controversy in the stress field. *Journal of human stress*, 1(2), 37–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/0097840X.1975.9940406
- Sharot, T., Korn, C. W., & Dolan, R. J. (2011). How unrealistic optimism is maintained in the face of reality. *Nature Neuroscience*, *14*(11), 1475-1479. 10.1038/nn.2949
- Sheldon, K. M., & King, L. (2001). Why Positive Psychology Is Necessary. *The American Psychologist*, *56*(3), 216-217. 10.1037/0003-066X.56.3.216
- Sinclair, E., Hart, R., & Lomas, T. (2020). Can positivity be counterproductive when suffering domestic abuse?: A narrative review. *International Journal of Wellbeing*, *10*(1), 26-53. 10.5502/ijw.v10i1.754
- Slife, B. D., & Richardson, F. C. (2008). Problematic Ontological Underpinnings of Positive Psychology. *Theory & amp; Psychology, 18*(5), 699-723. 10.1177/0959354308093403
- Sterling, P., & Eyer, J. (1988). Allostasis: A new paradigm to explain arousal pathology. In S. Fisher, & J. Reason (Eds.), *Handbook of life stress, cognition and health* (pp. 629-649). New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Twenge, J. M. (2004, October 2). Why So Many People Are Stressed and Depressed. Psychology Today. Retrieved May 17, 2022, from <u>https://www.psychologytoday.com/intl/blog/our-changing-</u> <u>culture/201410/why-so-many-people-are-stressed-and-depressed</u>
- Twenge, J. M. (2004, October 2). Why So Many People Are Stressed and Depressed. Psychology Today. Retrieved May 17, 2022, from https://www.psychologytoday.com/intl/blog/our-changingculture/201410/why-so-many-people-are-stressed-and-depressed
- Vitti Rodrigues, M., & Emmeche, C. (2021). Abduction and styles of scientific thinking. *Synthese*, *198*(2), 1397-1425
- Wallach, M. A., & Wallach, L. (1998). When Experiments Serve Little Purpose: Misguided Research in Mainstream Psychology. Theory & Psychology, 8(2), 183–194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0959354398082005</u>
- Ward, T., Clack, S., & Haig, B. D. (2016). The abductive theory of method: Scientific inquiry and clinical practice. *Behaviour Change*, *33*(4), 212-231.

- Wieser M. (2016). Psychology's "Crisis" and the Need for Reflection. A Plea for Modesty in Psychological Theorizing. *Integrative psychological & behavioral science*, 50(3), 359–367. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12124-016-</u> <u>9343-9</u> (9pages)
- Williams, N. (2021, December 1) Are Mental Health Issues Increasing? News-Medical.Net. Retrieved May 17, 2022, from <u>https://www.news-medical.net/health/Are-Mental-Health-Issues-Increasing.aspx</u>
- Williams, S. J. (2000). Reason, emotion and embodiment: is 'mental' health a contradiction in terms? Sociology of Health & Illness, 22, 559–581.
- Wilson, M. (2001) The case for sensorimotor coding in working memory. *Psychonomic Bulletin and Review* 8:44–57. [aMLA]
- Wirtz, P. H., Ehlert, U., Kottwitz, M. U., La Marca, R., & Semmer, N. K. (2013). Occupational Role Stress is Associated With Higher Cortisol Reactivity to Acute Stress. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *18*(2), 121-131. 10.1037/a0031802
- Wirtz, P. H., Ehlert, U., Kottwitz, M. U., La Marca, R., & Semmer, N. K. (2013). Occupational Role Stress is Associated With Higher Cortisol Reactivity to Acute Stress. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *18*(2), 121-131. 10.1037/a0031802
- Wittchen, H. U., Jacobi, F., Rehm, J., Gustavsson, A., Svensson, M., Jönsson, B., Olesen, J., Allgulander, C., Alonso, J., Faravelli, C., Fratiglioni, L., Jennum, P., Lieb, R., Maercker, A., van Os, J., Preisig, M., Salvador-Carulla, L., Simon, R., & Steinhausen, H. C. (2011). The size and burden of mental disorders and other disorders of the brain in Europe 2010. *European neuropsychopharmacology : the journal of the European College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 21(9), 655–679. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2011.07.018
- Woolfolk, R. L. (2002). The power of negative thinking: Truth, melancholia, and the tragic sense of life. Journal of Theoretical and Philosophical Psychology, 22(1), 19-27. doi:10.1037/h0091192
- Woolfolk, R. L., & Wasserman, R. H. (2005). Count No One Happy: Eudaimonia and Positive Psychology. Journal of Theoretical and Philosophical Psychology, 25(1), 81-90. <u>http://dx.doi.org.zorac.aub.aau.dk/10.1037/h0091252</u>

- Zhang, M., Zhang, Y., & Kong, Y. (2019). *Interaction between social pain and physical pain*. SAGE Publications. 10.26599/BSA.2019.9050023
- Zittoun, T., Gillespie, A., & Cornish, F. (2009). Fragmentation or differentiation: questioning the crisis in psychology. *Integrative psychological & behavioral science*, 43(2), 104–115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12124-008-9083-6</u>